

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Systemic administration of local anesthetic agents to relieve neuropathic pain (Review)

Challapalli V, Tremont-Lukats IW, McNicol ED, Lau J, Carr DB

Challapalli V, Tremont-Lukats IW, McNicol ED, Lau J, Carr DB. Systemic administration of local anesthetic agents to relieve neuropathic pain. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD003345. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003345.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	4
Figure 1	6
DISCUSSION	8
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	9
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	9
REFERENCES	10
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	13
DATA AND ANALYSES	30
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Efficacy of lidocaine or mexiletine vs. placebo control, Outcome 1: Post intervention/placebo mean VAS (0-100) pain scores (Random effects model)	31
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Efficacy of lidocaine or mexiletine vs. placebo control, Outcome 2: Significant pain relief by response rates	32
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 1: By sample size	34
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 2: By time of outcome measurement	35
Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 3: By time of outcome measurement (minus Stracke trial)	36
Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 4: By time of outcome measurement (minus 3 trials with wide data spread)	37
Analysis 2.5. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 5: By trial design	38
Analysis 2.6. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 6: By methodological quality	39
Analysis 2.7. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 7: By etiologic category	40
Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3: Efficacy of intravenous lidocaine or its oral analogs vs. other analgesics, Outcome 1: Mean pain scores post intervention/control	41
Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4: Adverse effects: Lidocaine or oral analogs vs. placebo, Outcome 1: Patients with adverse effects	42
Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5: Adverse effects: Lidocaine or oral analogs vs. other analgesics, Outcome 1: Patients with adverse effects	43
APPENDICES	43
WHAT'S NEW	43
HISTORY	44
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	44
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	44
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	44
NOTES	45
INDEX TERMS	45

[Intervention Review]

Systemic administration of local anesthetic agents to relieve neuropathic pain

Vidya Challapalli¹, Ivo W Tremont-Lukats², Ewan D McNicol³, Joseph Lau⁴, Daniel B Carr⁵

¹c/o Ivo W Tremont-Lukats, Culicchia Neurological Clinic, Marrero, Louisiana, USA. ²The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, Texas, USA. ³Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, Tufts Medical Center, Boston, MA, USA. ⁴Center for Evidence-based Medicine, Brown University Public Health Program, Providence, RI, USA. ⁵Pain Research, Education and Policy (PREP) Program, Department of Public Health and Community Medicine, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts, USA

Contact address: Ewan D McNicol, ewan.mcnicol@mcphs.edu, ewanmcnicol@comcast.net.

Editorial group: Cochrane Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care Group. **Publication status and date:** Stable (no update expected for reasons given in 'What's new'), published in Issue 10, 2020.

Citation: Challapalli V, Tremont-Lukats IW, McNicol ED, Lau J, Carr DB. Systemic administration of local anesthetic agents to relieve neuropathic pain. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD003345. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003345.pub2.

Copyright © 2005 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Lidocaine, mexiletine, tocainide, and flecainide are local anesthetics which give an analgesic effect when administered orally or parenterally. Early reports described the use of intravenous lidocaine or procaine to relieve cancer and postoperative pain. Interest reappeared decades later when patient series and clinical trials reported that parenteral lidocaine and its oral analogs tocainide, mexiletine, and flecainide relieved neuropathic pain in some patients. With the recent publication of clinical trials with high quality standards, we have reviewed the use of systemic lidocaine and its oral analogs in neuropathic pain to update our knowledge, to measure their benefit and harm, and to better define their role in therapy.

Objectives

To evaluate pain relief and adverse effect rates between systemic local anesthetic-type drugs and other control interventions.

Search methods

We searched MEDLINE (1966 through 15 May 2004), EMBASE (January 1980 to December 2002), Cancer Lit (through 15 December 2002), Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (2nd Quarter, 2004), System for Information on Grey Literature in Europe (SIGLE), and LILACS, from January 1966 through March 2001. We also hand searched conference proceedings, textbooks, original articles and reviews.

Selection criteria

We included trials with random allocation, that were double blinded, with a parallel or crossover design. The control intervention was a placebo or an analgesic drug for neuropathic pain from any cause.

Data collection and analysis

We collected efficacy and safety data from all published and unpublished trials. We calculated combined effect sizes using continuous and binary data for pain relief and adverse effects as primary and secondary outcome measurements, respectively.

Main results

Thirty-two controlled clinical trials met the selection criteria; two were duplicate articles. The treatment drugs were intravenous lidocaine (16 trials), mexiletine (12 trials), lidocaine plus mexiletine sequentially (one trial), and tocainide (one trial). Twenty-one trials were crossover studies, and nine were parallel. Lidocaine and mexiletine were superior to placebo [weighted mean difference (WMD) = -11; 95% CI: -15 to -7; P < 0.00001], and limited data showed no difference in efficacy (WMD = -0.6; 95% CI: -7 to 6), or adverse effects



versus carbamazepine, amantadine, gabapentin or morphine. In these trials, systemic local anesthetics were safe, with no deaths or lifethreatening toxicities. Sensitivity analysis identified data distribution in three trials as a probable source of heterogeneity. There was no publication bias.

Authors' conclusions

Lidocaine and oral analogs were safe drugs in controlled clinical trials for neuropathic pain, were better than placebo, and were as effective as other analgesics. Future trials should enroll specific diseases and test novel lidocaine analogs with better toxicity profiles. More emphasis is necessary on outcomes measuring patient satisfaction to assess if statistically significant pain relief is clinically meaningful.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Systemic administration of local anesthetic agents to relieve neuropathic pain

Intravenous lidocaine and oral derivatives relieve pain from damage to the nervous system (neuropathic pain). In early reports, intravenous lidocaine and its oral analogs mexiletine and tocainide relieved neuropathic pain, a type of pain caused by disease in the nervous system. However, the evidence was conflicting. The authors reviewed all randomized studies comparing these drugs with placebo or with other analgesics and found that: local anesthetics were superior to placebo in decreasing intensity of neuropathic pain; limited data showed no difference in efficacy or adverse effects between local anesthetics and carbamazepine, amantadine, gabapentin or morphine; local anesthetics had more adverse effects than placebo; and local anesthetics were safe.



BACKGROUND

Lidocaine (lignocaine) is a local anesthetic used intravenously as an antiarrhythmic drug. Early reports described the use of intravenous lidocaine or procaine to relieve cancer and postoperative pain (Keats 1951; Gilbert 1951; De Clive-Lowe 1958; Bartlett 1961). Interest reappeared decades later when patient series and clinical trials reported that parenteral lidocaine and its oral analogs tocainide, mexiletine, and flecainide relieved neuropathic pain in some patients (Boas 1982; Lindblom 1984; Petersen 1986; Dunlop 1988; Bach 1990; Awerbuch 1990).

The International Association for the Study of Pain defined neuropathic pain as pain resulting from damage to the peripheral or central nervous system (Merskey 1994). There is no uniform classification for neuropathic pain, but a convenient and simple anatomical classification divided neuropathic pain as peripheral or central, depending on the location of the primary lesion (Bowsher 1991; Dworkin 2003). This classification attempted to give uniformity to a symptom that represented the common expression of many different disorders. There is experimental evidence that systemic lidocaine lessened pain by blockade of peripheral and central sodium ion gate channels (Woolf 1985), although the analgesic action of lidocaine may be more complex, and the inhibition of neuronal ectopic discharges is one of several mechanisms involved (Nagy 1996).

It is unclear why some patients with neuropathic pain responded better to lidocaine than others (Mao 2000). In animal models, lidocaine modified or relieved some components of neuropathic pain (Abdi 1998), an observation reproduced in clinical studies (Galer 1993; Stracke 1994; Wallace 2000a; Attal 2000; Attal 2004). Lidocaine was not suitable for long term use, so pain clinicians and researchers used its oral analogs, mostly mexiletine. However, the evidence for mexiletine as an effective drug in neuropathic pain was weak; the number of patients needed to treat (NNT) diabetic polyneuropathy or central pain with mexiletine ranged between 10 and 38, placing this drug below other agents for neuropathic pain (Sindrup 1999; Sindrup 2000). This estimate was based on a few trials providing response rates, when most trials measured pain relief as continuous data. A systematic review of local anesthetic drugs for chronic (including neuropathic and nociceptive) pain concluded that lidocaine and oral analogs "are effective in pain due to nerve damage, but there is little or no evidence to support their use in cancer-related pain" (Kalso 1998). Kalso 1998 included in his review other types of pain, and did not measure the therapeutic benefit of lidocaine and its oral analogs. With the recent publication of clinical trials with high quality standards, we have reviewed the use of systemic lidocaine and its oral analogs in neuropathic pain to update our knowledge, to measure their benefit and harm, and to better define their role in therapy.

OBJECTIVES

- 1. To evaluate whether lidocaine and its oral analogs are beneficial in decreasing chronic neuropathic pain.
- 2. To estimate the treatment effect of local anesthetics compared with placebo or other analgesic drugs.
- 3. To quantify the safety of systemic local anesthetics.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Controlled clinical trials with random allocation, double blind, with parallel or crossover design comparing systemically administered lidocaine or its oral analogs (mexiletine, tocainide, and flecainide) with placebo or with any other active treatment.

Types of participants

Patients of any age with neuropathic pain from:

- painful peripheral neuropathy regardless of etiology;
- plexopathy or radiculopathy of unknown, traumatic, infectious, toxic, or infiltrative origin;
- complex regional pain syndrome type I (reflex sympathetic dystrophy), and II (causalgia);
- central pain from cerebrovascular lesions or tumors;
- spinal cord injuries;
- multiple sclerosis and other demyelinating diseases;
- trigeminal neuralgia;
- post-amputation pain;
- fibromyalgia.

Types of interventions

The interventions included will be Lidocaine or its analogs given parenterally or orally, compared with placebo or any active treatment including other analgesics, acupuncture, TENS, biofeedback, relaxation techniques, regional blockade, anticonvulsants, antidepressants, or spinal cord stimulation. Since topical formulations of lidocaine have limited systemic absorption, we excluded studies of topical lidocaine.

Types of outcome measures

- Intensity of spontaneous pain or its relief, measured by any validated measurement tool.
- Adverse effects, defined as any untoward symptom due to lidocaine or its analogs with enough intensity to cause study withdrawal or to decrease the dose of the drug. The type of adverse effect reported in the trials are listed in the table of included studies.

Search methods for identification of studies

We used a search strategy based on guidelines published elsewhere (Lefebvre 2001). We combined a series of search terms relevant to randomized double blind, placebo-controlled trials with pain-specific terms and with the subject headings related to forms of local anesthetic agents or to local anesthetics as a class of drugs. The search strategy was adapted to each of the following databases: The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (1st Quarter 2004); EMBASE (January 1980 to December 2002); MEDLINE (January 1966 to May 2004); CancerLit (1963 to December 2002); LILACS; and the System for Information on Grey Literature in Europe (SIGLE). We searched in CancerLit and SIGLE for conference proceedings. We contacted investigators to learn about unpublished trials, or to request additional information on published trials. There was not any language restriction. We



adapted the list of terms found in Appendix 1 to each of the electronic databases.

Data collection and analysis

Three of us independently screened all titles and abstracts identified in the literature search. We resolved any disagreement by discussion to find a consensus, and were not blinded to the author names, affiliated institutions, journal of publication, or study results. We examined the internal validity of each trial using the Oxford Quality Score criteria (Jadad 1996).

Assessment of methodological quality

1. Was the study randomized? (1 = yes; 0 = no)

2. Was the method of randomization adequate and well described? (0= not described; 1= described and adequate; -1= described, but not adequate)

3. Was the study described as double blind? (1= yes; 0 = no)

4. Was the method of double blinding adequate and well described? (0 = not described; 1 = described and adequate; -1 = described, but not adequate)

5. Was there a description of withdrawals and dropouts sufficient to determine the number of patients in each treatment group entering and completing the trial? (1 = yes; 0 = no)

Each trial received a score of 0 to 5 points, with higher scores indicating a higher methodological quality.

Data collection and analysis

We extracted data on participants, methods, interventions, outcome measurements, and adverse effects from the original articles. The outcomes and the instruments to measure them varied across studies. The outcome measurements were published as binary (dichotomous) or continuous data. The continuous data included medians, means with standard deviations or standard errors. In the articles that did not publish standard deviations, we could still derive the standard deviation if the article included the number of participants and the standard error. We dichotomized ordinal scales to pain relief (proportion of patients with significant and total pain relief) or no pain relief (moderate, mild, or no pain relief) to estimate response rates. We extracted data on adverse effects as listed and defined by the authors. We did not make judgments on drug causation. We combined the data on pain relief and adverse effects to obtain a pooled effect size for each outcome.

Synthesis and presentation of data

Data analysis was done with RevMan Analyses for Windows version 1.0.2, the analysis module for RevMan 4.2.2. We estimated the weighted mean difference (WMD) between placebo control or active control and the treatment intervention using visual analog scores (VAS). We studied statistical heterogeneity using the Cochrane Q test (Chi²) and the l² statistics. The l² statistic is a reliable and robust test to quantify heterogeneity, since it does not depend on the number of trials or on the between-study variance. l² measures the extent of inconsistency among the studies' results, and we can interpret this statistic as the proportion of total variation in study estimates that is due to heterogeneity rather than sampling error. Other sensitivity tests to investigate heterogeneity and publication bias were the comparison between model effects (fixed and random), and subgroup analyses by number of participants, etiology, drug type, trial quality, trial

design, and time of outcome measurement. We used funnel plots to investigate publication bias and heterogeneity.

For the analysis of response rates and for adverse effects we used binary data to estimate odds ratios (OR) in a random effects model. We included pooled response rates as defined by the different investigators, because such outcomes may have more clinical meaning to patients and clinicians (Farrar 2000; Farrar 2001).

RESULTS

Description of studies

Trial characteristics

(Table: Characteristics of included studies; Table: Characteristics of excluded studies)

Our search identified 1902 titles, of which 44 trials were relevant for this review. We excluded 14 trials (Table: Characteristics of excluded studies); two articles were duplicate publications (Kastrup 1986, Stracke 1992); one study of flecainide was terminated when the drug was removed from the market (Dunlop 1991; CAST 1989); five trials examined the use of intravenous lidocaine in experimentally-induced acute pain in normal volunteers (Rowlingson 1980; Wallace 1997; Ando 2000; Dirks 2000; Gottrup 2000); three trials did not have or describe random allocation (Bach 1990; Reljanovic 1996; Sakurai 1999); two trials were unblinded (Posner 1994; Català1994); and one study was single blinded, without random allocation (Keats 1951).

We included 30 randomized, double blind, controlled clinical trials for chronic neuropathic pain (Attal 2000; Attal 2004; Backonja 2000; Baranowski 1999; Bruera 1992; Chabal 1992; Chiou-Tan 1996; Dejgard 1988; Ellemann 1989; Fassoulaki 2002; Galer 1996; Kastrup 1987; Kemper 1998; Kieburtz 1998; Kvarnstrom 2003; Kvarnstrom 2004; Lindstrom 1987; Marchettini 1992; Matsuoka 1996; Matsuoka 1997; Medrik 1999; Oskarsson 1997; Rowbotham 1991; Stracke 1994; Sörensen 1995; Wallace 1996; Wallace 2000a; Wallace 2000b; Wright 1997; Wu 2002). The treatment intervention was lidocaine in 16 trials, mexiletine in 12 trials, sequential lidocaine and mexiletine in one study (Galer 1996), and tocainide in one study (Lindstrom 1987). The treatment sequence design was parallel in eight trials, and crossover in 22 trials. Two of the crossover trials did not specify washout periods (Lindstrom 1987; Marchettini 1992). Three randomized studies appeared as abstracts (Backonja 2000; Matsuoka 1996; Matsuoka 1997). We retrieved complete information from one of these trials (Backonja 2000). The age (mean +/- standard deviation) of the participants in all included trials was 51.7+/-10.3 years.

Methods of trials included for systematic review

Lidocaine trials

Researchers gave lidocaine intravenously in different doses: 5 mg/ kg in nine studies (Attal 2000; Attal 2004; Bruera 1992; Ellemann 1989; Kastrup 1987; Marchettini 1992; Medrik 1999, Rowbotham 1991; Sörensen 1995); 1 and 5 mg/kg in one study (Baranowski 1999), 2 and 5 mg/kg in one study (Galer 1996); a bolus of 1 mg/kg followed by a 4 mg/kg infusion in one study (Wu 2002); 1, 3 and 5 mg/kg infusions in one study (Backonja 2000); and a 1.5 mg/kg bolus only in another study (Marchettini 1992). Two studies infused lidocaine at 2.5 mg/kg over 40 min (Kvarnstrom 2003; Kvarnstrom 2004). Fifteen of the trials included normal saline

as placebo, two studies used diphenhydramine as active placebo (Wallace 2000a; Wu 2002), and five studies included an active control (with or without placebo): morphine sulfate (Rowbotham 1991; Wu 2002), ketamine (Kvarnstrom 2003; Kvarnstrom 2004), or amantadine (Medrik 1999).

One clinical trial randomly allocated participants to receive lidocaine at two different doses followed by mexiletine, but did not have a control intervention (Galer 1996). Five of the fifteen trials did not describe exclusion criteria (Bruera 1992; Galer 1996; Marchettini 1992; Sörensen 1995; Wallace 2000a).

Researchers in the lidocaine trials measured pain intensity or pain relief in minutes (n = 13; median: 120 min, range: 35-600 min), or in weeks (n = 5; median duration: 5 weeks; range: 1-11 weeks). Eight studies enrolled patients with a specific etiology for peripheral neuropathic pain: painful diabetic polyneuropathy (Kastrup 1987), postherpetic neuralgia (Rowbotham 1991; Baranowski 1999), fibromyalgia (Sörensen 1995), neuropathic pain from tumor infiltration (Ellemann 1989; Bruera 1992), lumbosacral radiculopathy from disc herniation (Medrik 1999), and trauma (Kvarnstrom 2003). Five studies enrolled patients with peripheral neuropathic pain who had more than one disease (Attal 2004; Backonja 2000; Marchettini 1992; Wallace 1996; Wallace 2000a). Two studies enrolled only patients with central pain and one disease (Kvarnstrom 2004; Wu 2002), and one trial enrolled patients with central pain from two different diseases (Attal 2000).

All studies included a 0-100 mm VAS or a 0-10-point numerical rating scale (NRS) to measure pain. Other pain measurement tools were the five-item symptom score scale (FIS) (Kastrup 1987), the short form of the McGill Pain Questionnaire (Baranowski 1999), and the pain relief scale (Galer 1996).

Investigators measured plasma lidocaine concentrations in seven trials (Backonja 2000; Baranowski 1999; Galer 1996; Kastrup 1987; Kvarnstrom 2003; Rowbotham 1991; Wallace 2000a), of which one found a relation between concentration and response to pain (Wallace 2000a).

Mexiletine trials

The randomized controlled trials with mexiletine started at 300 mg/ day, increasing to the highest dose set in the trial protocol. The dose ranged from 300 mg/day (Matsuoka 1997), to 1200 mg/day (Galer 1996). The median dose for all trials was 600 mg, in three divided doses. One study used 300 and 450 mg/day (Matsuoka 1996); Four studies included a maximum dose of 600 mg/day (Fassoulaki 2002; Kemper 1998; Kieburtz 1998; Wright 1997); in two clinical trials the highest dose was 675 mg/day (Oskarsson 1997; Stracke 1994); 750 mg/day (Chabal 1992), and in one trial the dose was 450 mg/day (Chiou-Tan 1996). One group used a dose of 10 mg/kg/day (Dejgard 1988). All trials included inactive placebo, and two also had active controls, amitriptyline (Kieburtz 1998), and gabapentin (Fassoulaki 2002).

The median duration of mexiletine trials was nine weeks (range: 2-26 weeks). In one trial, some patients remained on the drug for up to a year (Galer 1996). Twelve studies enrolled participants with peripheral neuropathic pain: nine of these trials included patients with a single diagnosis, such as painful diabetic polyneuropathy (Dejgard 1988; Matsuoka 1996; Matsuoka 1997; Oskarsson 1997; Stracke 1994; Wright 1997), HIV-related painful polyneuropathy (Kemper 1998; Kieburtz 1998), and breast cancer patients with postmastectomy pain 3 months after breast surgery (Fassoulaki

2002). Three trials enrolled patients with different diseases (Chabal 1992; Galer 1996; Wallace 2000b). There was only one trial with central pain which enrolled patients with spinal cord injury (Chiou-Tan 1996). In most mexiletine trials, the investigators measured pain with a VAS or a NRS except one trial that used the Gracely Pain Scale (Kieburtz 1998). Other instruments used were the FIS (Dejgard 1988), the McGill Pain Questionnaire (Chiou-Tan 1996; Stracke 1994), and a categorical pain scale (Matsuoka 1996; Matsuoka 1997).

Four of the 13 trials did not describe exclusion criteria (Dejgard 1988; Galer 1996; Matsuoka 1996; Matsuoka 1997). Researchers measured plasma mexiletine levels in five studies (Dejgard 1988; Oskarsson 1997; Kieburtz 1998; Wallace 2000b; Fassoulaki 2002). None of these studies found a association between plasma levels and pain relief.

Tocainide trial

The only randomized controlled trial with tocainide tested this drug against carbamazepine for idiopathic trigeminal neuralgia (Lindstrom 1987). The dose of tocainide was 20 mg/kg divided daily in three doses. The authors rated pain daily on an 11-point NRS, and measured outcomes the last 10 days of a 2 week treatment with each drug. This trial specified exclusion criteria. The authors measured tocainide concentrations in plasma, but did not investigate a relation between concentration and pain relief.

Risk of bias in included studies

Twelve clinical trials (40%) were of good methodological quality, scoring 4 points (Bruera 1992; Chabal 1992; Chiou-Tan 1996; Medrik 1999; Wallace 2000b; Attal 2000; Backonja 2000) or 5 points (Attal 2004; Wright 1997; Kieburtz 1998; Fassoulaki 2002; Wu 2002). Eighteen trials (60%) scored 2 points (Kastrup 1987; Matsuoka 1996; Matsuoka 1997) or 3 points (Kvarnstrom 2003; Kvarnstrom 2004; Lindstrom 1987; Dejgard 1988; Ellemann 1989; Rowbotham 1991; Marchettini 1992; Sörensen 1995; Galer 1996; Wallace 1996; Oskarsson 1997; Kemper 1998; Baranowski 1999; Wallace 2000a; Stracke 1994). The median score was 3 points for all trials with either lidocaine or its oral analogs.

Of the 30 trials in this review, 10 (33%) described a method for random allocation (Kvarnstrom 2003; Kvarnstrom 2004; Attal 2004; Bruera 1992; Chabal 1992; Wright 1997; Kieburtz 1998; Backonja 2000; Wu 2002; Fassoulaki 2002); six (20%) described sample size calculations (Chiou-Tan 1996; Wright 1997; Kieburtz 1998; Medrik 1999; Wu 2002; Fassoulaki 2002), and 11(37%) described the blinding method (Attal 2004; Ellemann 1989; Bruera 1992; Oskarsson 1997; Kieburtz 1998; Medrik 1999; Attal 2000; Backonja 2000; Wallace 2000b; Wu 2002; Fassoulaki 2002). Of these studies with a description of the blinding method, five had a strategy to ensure that patients were blinded throughout the study (Attal 2000; Attal 2004; Backonja 2000; Wallace 2000b; Wu 2002). The number of participants receiving lidocaine or oral analogs varied but in general was small; the median number of participants for all trials was 28 (range: 8-87 participants).

Effects of interventions

Relief of spontaneous pain with intravenous lidocaine or oral mexiletine versus placebo (comparison 01, outcome 01)

We computed into the meta-analysis all the placebo-controlled trials with lidocaine and mexiletine that published continuous



data on pain relief, excluding five trials because such data were unavailable (Ellemann 1989; Kvarnstrom 2003; Kvarnstrom 2004; Sörensen 1995), or because of a different scale (Kieburtz 1998). For trials using more than one dose of lidocaine or mexiletine, we selected the highest dose. For trials measuring pain at different times we chose the last measurement time, except one study in which we pooled the data from all time points (Bruera 1992). However, the negative results of this study were not affected by data from any single time point. We pooled daytime and nocturnal pain scores for one trial (Oskarsson 1997), and for a trial on postamputation pain evaluating stump and phantom pain, we chose stump pain (Wu 2002). Pretreatment and posttreatment mean pain scores were available from 11 lidocaine and nine mexiletine trials (n = 750), for a total of 371 patients allocated to the treatment drug and 379 patients allocated to the placebo intervention. The summary effect size favors both lidocaine and mexiletine over placebo to decrease chronic neuropathic pain in the random and fixed effects models (WMD = -11 mm; 95% Cl: -15 to -7 mm; P <0.00001, random effects model). We found a slightly asymmetric funnel plot due to three studies on or out of the 95% confidence intervals (Figure 1, Stracke 1994; Baranowski 1999; Fassoulaki 2002).

Figure 1. Funnel plot of comparison 01, outcome 01. The trials by Baranowski, Fassoulaki and Stracke are on or outside the 95% confidence intervals.





Meta-analysis of lidocaine trials vs. placebo (comparison 01, outcome 01)

In the lidocaine trials, 187 patients received lidocaine and 186 patients received placebo. Lidocaine was superior to placebo (WMD = -11 mm; 95% CI: -17 to -5 mm, P = 0.0003). Heterogeneity was very small.

Meta-analysis of mexiletine trials vs. placebo (comparison 01, outcome 01)

In the mexiletine clinical trials included for meta-analysis, 184 patients received mexiletine and 193 received placebo. The heterogeneity was greater than in the lidocaine trials because two trials had a wide dispersion of data around the mean (Stracke 1994;

Fassoulaki 2002). The combined effect size also favored mexiletine over placebo (WMD = -11 mm; 95% CI: -16 to -6 mm, P < 0.0001).

Lidocaine or mexiletine vs. placebo, binary data with response rates (Comparison 01, outcome 02)

We could extract response rates from 14 trials (lidocaine, n = 9; mexiletine, n = 5). Each article included presented a proportion of responders, most defining response as a 30% or greater decrease in pain. The total number of participants was 589, 321 patients treated with local anesthetics and 268 patients who received placebo. Forty-seven percent (151/321) allocated to local anesthetics had significant pain relief compared with 22% (59/268) of those receiving placebo (OR: 3.4, 95% CI: 2.1 to 5.6). Mexiletine was as effective as lidocaine for patients with significant pain relief, and the studies with mexiletine yielded more precise estimates of



effect mainly because of the number of participants. There was no evidence of significant heterogeneity.

Subgroup analyses

Sample size (comparison 02, outcome 01)

We divided trials in two subgroups: fewer than 25 participants (n = 17, six mexiletine trials and 11 lidocaine trials), and more than 25 participants (n = 3, two mexiletine trials and one lidocaine trial). The subgroup of trials with fewer than 25 patients was not statistically heterogeneous, despite mixing lidocaine and mexiletine trials and that 50% of these studies were negative. There was evidence of heterogeneity in the subgroup with more than 25 patients due to one trial (Stracke 1994). These results suggest that heterogeneity was not due to the intervention or to the number of participants, and that there was no publication bias because half of the small trials were negative studies.

Time of outcome measurement (comparison 02, outcomes 02, 03, and 04)

Although there was no indication of statistical heterogeneity in the subgroup with outcome measurements within 24 hours (n = 10, all lidocaine trials), the second subgroup (outcome measurements recorded for more than 24 hours, n = 10) was heterogeneous. If we excluded one trial (Stracke 1994, outcome 03), heterogeneity virtually disappeared (P = 0.41, $l^2 = 2.8\%$). In another sensitivity analysis, we excluded the three trials with widely spread data (Stracke 1994; Baranowski 1999; Fassoulaki 2002, outcome 04); the effect sizes for both subgroups separately or combined showed no evidence of statistical heterogeneity.

Trial design (Comparison 02, outcome 5)

The classification by trial design was straightforward: trials had a crossover or a parallel treatment sequence. There was evidence of heterogeneity in the parallel trials, explained by two studies (Stracke 1994; Fassoulaki 2002). The heterogeneity disappeared if we excluded these trials.

Methodological quality (comparison 02, outcome 06)

We divided trials in three subgroups: studies with a score between two and three points (low and fair quality), four points (good quality), and studies with five points (very good quality). The subgroup with the best methodological quality was homogeneous despite one trial with widely spread data, suggesting that high methodological quality reduced heterogeneity. The heterogeneity present in the other two subgroups decreased sensibly after removing two trials with widely dispersed data. Such findings suggest that heterogeneity is less if trials have very high quality standards.

Etiology (comparison 02, outcome 07)

We divided all trials in six subgroups:

- 1. Peripheral, metabolic cause: five trials, four with mexiletine and one with lidocaine. All participants had diabetic polyneuropathy.
- 2. Peripheral, infectious cause: Three trials including HIV-1related polyneuropathy treated with mexiletine (n = 1), and postherpetic neuralgia treated with lidocaine (n = 2).

- 3. Peripheral, posttraumatic cause: four trials with mexiletine and lidocaine (two each).
- 4. Peripheral, cancer: one trial using lidocaine.
- 5. Peripheral, mixed: three trials using lidocaine.
- 6. Central/mixed, vascular or posttraumatic causes: three trials included participants with pain due to amputation, stroke, and spinal cord injury. Lidocaine was the treatment drug in two of these trials.

The subgroup with peripheral neuropathic pain from diabetic polyneuropathy showed heterogeneity (Stracke 1994). We could not conclude anything from subgroup 4 (peripheral, cancer), because there is only one trial published to date with continuous data that could be included in the meta-analysis.

Meta-analysis of lidocaine or mexiletine vs. other active treatments (comparison 03, outcome 01)

Five trials (n = 206: 102 treated with lidocaine or analogs, 104 treated with another analgesic) compared the analgesia between local anesthetic-type drugs and carbamazepine (Lindstrom 1987), gabapentin (Fassoulaki 2002), amantadine (Medrik 1999), or morphine (Rowbotham 1991; Wu 2002). There was no evidence of heterogeneity, and no evidence that these drugs were better than lidocaine or its oral analogs to decrease neuropathic pain (WMD = -0.6 mm; 95 % CI: -7 to 6 mm).

Adverse effects

The most common adverse effects were sleepiness, fatigue, nausea, perioral numbness, metallic taste, and dizziness.

Local anesthetic-type drugs and placebo (comparison 04, outcome 01

Twenty-one studies provided rates of adverse effects for placebo and lidocaine or oral analogs (Attal 2004; Dejgard 1988; Ellemann 1989; Fassoulaki 2002, Kvarnstrom 2004; Bruera 1992; Chabal 1992; Marchettini 1992; Stracke 1994; Sörensen 1995; Chiou-Tan 1996; Wallace 1996; Oskarsson 1997; Kemper 1998; Kieburtz 1998; Baranowski 1999; Backonja 2000; Attal 2000; Rowbotham 1991; Wallace 2000b; Wright 1997). Two of these (Bruera 1992; Chiou-Tan 1996) did not find adverse effects to report on participants using the treatment drug or placebo, and were excluded from this analysis. Of 813 participants in the remaining 19 studies, 442 were treated with lidocaine or mexiletine, and 371 received placebo. One hundred fifty-three patients (35%) allocated to lidocaine or mexiletine experienced adverse effects, compared with 44 patients (12%) allocated to placebo (OR = 4.6, 95% CI: 3.0 to 7.0). These results indicate that treatment with lidocaine or mexiletine was significantly associated with more adverse effects than placebo.

Lidocaine and oral analogs versus other analgesics used as active controls (comparison 05, outcome 01)

Five trials provided information on adverse effects in 205 participants, 104 treated with lidocaine or oral analogs, and 101 treated with an active control (Lindstrom 1987; Rowbotham 1991; Kieburtz 1998; Fassoulaki 2002; Kvarnstrom 2004). Thirty-two patients (31%) had adverse effects with lidocaine or its oral analogs, and 31 patients (31%) reported adverse effects with active control drugs (OR: 0.8; 95% CI: 0.2 to 4.0). Based on this data, there is no evidence that treatment with lidocaine or mexiletine was less safe or had more adverse effects than other analgesics

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

used for neuropathic pain. However, these results are limited by the few trials with adequate information on this outcome, and by the heterogeneity of the model.

DISCUSSION

The main and most solid conclusion of this review is that intravenous lidocaine and its oral analog mexiletine were more effective than placebo in decreasing neuropathic pain. The treatment effect was similar and consistent for both drugs despite clinical variability between trials. These results are more precise than previous estimates of effect published for mexiletine (Sindrup 1999; Sindrup 2000). The role of systemic local anesthetics to treat neuropathic pain was controversial, and difficult to define objectively even in comparison with placebo interventions. The complex nature of neuropathic pain, and the methodological flaws of some clinical trials underlie this fragmentary evidence and lack of definition; more than half of the 29 trials were of low or fair methodological quality, one third did not adequately describe the method for random allocation, and 80% did not estimate the number of participants to have enough statistical power. However, these deficiencies could be due to incomplete reporting of a clinical trial at publication and not to poor methodology, as an observational study showed with randomized controlled trials conducted by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (Soares 2004).

A previous systematic review of local anesthetics on chronic pain found evidence to support these drugs, yet the evidence was qualitative (Kalso 1998). Other reviews were narrative (Mao 2000), limited by their own nature and prone to author bias. We approached the problem of fragmented evidence by synthesizing all the quantitative data published so far, and by examining variables that may limit and confuse the interpretation of results. We investigated, identified, and explained sources of heterogeneity in this review. By using subgroup analysis we found that statistical heterogeneity was confined to two or three clinical trials, and that their exclusion did lessen heterogeneity but did not affect the overall treatment effect. Therefore, the final results were robust against statistical heterogeneity or clinical variability.

We observed in the subgroup analysis that lidocaine and mexiletine were more effective for pain from diabetes, trauma, and cerebrovascular disease than for other causes. However, such finding comes from an arbitrary, retrospective classification to assess heterogeneity, and we cannot make firm conclusions based on such results. We also investigated publication bias, a frequent problem limiting the validity of systematic reviews and metaanalyses. We did not find evidence of such bias because positive and negative studies were evenly split in trials with fewer than 25 participants, and the effect sizes between small and large studies were roughly similar.

A more difficult question to answer is whether a mean difference of 11 mm on a 0-100 VAS (or 1.1 on a 0-10 NRS) represents a true clinical difference for patients. For neuropathic pain, we believe that this effect size is clinically relevant. First, most study participants had chronic pain, had been previously treated with other analgesics, and had failed such treatments; hence, this is a group very difficult to treat, and small quantitative differences in these patients are valuable. Second, the response to placebo may render new treatments ineffective if such response is large enough to lessen any statistical difference. Third, the analysis of continuous data from pain scales using means or medians is a mathematical attempt to make a multidimensional, subjective variable like pain more objective. A limitation of the use of mean pain scores is that individual responses may not follow a normal probability distribution but rather a bimodal pattern, in which a mean difference of 11 mm can be a clinical difference for some patients (Farrar 2000). Even in the absence of a bimodal distribution, individual patients may experience a larger response.

One solution to this problem in clinical pain research is the use of binary data, expressing results as response rates. The definition of the smallest decline in pain intensity considered successful or clinically significant by the patient has been explored (Sriwatanakul 1982). Recent research analyzing data from large randomized clinical trials showed that a clinically meaningful difference begins around a 30% reduction in pain intensity, or a 2-point reduction in absolute pain intensity (0-10 scale) (Farrar 2000; Farrar 2001; Cepeda 2003). Two of these studies deserve more comment. The first study analyzed pain response data from 130 patients with cancer-related breakthrough pain treated with oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate in a randomized controlled trial. Two of the scales were absolute pain intensity difference, and the percentage pain intensity difference. Patients defined pain relief as clinically important when they did not have to use another opioid as rescue of the painful episode. The best cut-off points defining clinically important pain relief were a change in the percent pain intensity difference of 33% or greater, and a change in absolute pain intensity difference of 2 points or greater on an 11-point numerical scale (Farrar 2000). A similar analysis of 2724 patients participating in clinical trials with pregabalin yielded identical results. These patients had diabetic neuropathy, osteoarthritis, postherpetic neuralgia, chronic low back pain, and fibromyalgia (Farrar 2001). We collected and analyzed the responder rates published in 14 of the mexiletine and lidocaine trials. We found that both drugs were better than placebo. This result is in agreement with the WMD between oral anesthetics and placebo, suggesting that such a difference is clinically important (comparison 01, outcome 02). This result is valid for our systematic review, and could be cautiously extrapolated to future trials using local anesthetics, but may not be applicable to studies of neuropathic pain using other experimental interventions.

In this review, a limited number of trials did not show a difference in efficacy between lidocaine and its oral analogs and other analgesics for treating neuropathic pain, for example the single study that compared tocainide with carbamazepine did not show a difference between the two drugs. This finding implies that lidocaine and mexiletine may be as good as other analgesics. However, even though it is permissible to use different control interventions in a meta-analysis, each control intervention had few patients, and we cannot generalize these results with enough confidence. This area of research needs development, and we need more controlled clinical trials comparing local anesthetic-type drugs against other analgesics.

We showed in this review that lidocaine and other oral analogs of lidocaine caused more adverse effects than placebo. However, the use of such drugs was safe, as we did not find reports of severe toxicity or life-threatening events, and very few withdrawals. We did not find any difference in the frequency of adverse effects between lidocaine or mexiletine compared with morphine, gabapentin, amantadine, amitriptyline, ketamine, or carbamazepine. The use of

other analgesics makes unblinding more difficult, as all participants are exposed to drugs with the potential to cause side effects. Adverse effects from lidocaine or mexiletine may be more frequent in debilitated patients with poor functional status, for example in participants with advanced cancer or HIV infection, creating the impression of easy toxicity that will bias the study results against the experimental intervention. To avoid such bias, researchers should consider stratification by performance status.

In trials controlled with placebo, a narrow margin between benefit and adverse effects can be a problem to keep participants and researchers blinded to the interventions, because it may unmask the treatment intervention to participants and investigators. Very few trials with lidocaine or its oral analogs used strategies to reduce this unmasking effect, such as using active placebos (Wallace 2000a; Wu 2002), including a checklist of unrelated symptoms to confound participants (Backonja 2000), or asking the participants whether they knew what treatment they received at the end of each intervention (Attal 2000; Attal 2004). This is not surprising because only 2% of 191 randomized clinical trials published in top medical and psychiatry journals assessed blinding in participants and investigators, indicating that lack of blinding assessment is widespread (Fergusson 2004).

As intravenous lidocaine has a very limited role to manage pain in the outpatient population, it is important to plan controlled clinical trials with subcutaneous lidocaine given by pumps with preset dose infusions, or to use mexiletine and newer analogs to treat pain in diseases for which there is little or no evidence, such as trigeminal neuralgia, multiple sclerosis, poststroke central pain, post-amputation pain, or the complex regional pain syndrome types I and II.

Considerable debate surrounds the field of systematic reviews. Some have recommended caution on the potential mis-application of such methods (Feinstein 1997). Others have shown how metaanalyses of low quality trials may produce unreliable estimates of treatment effect (Kjaergard 2001, Lau 1997, Hedges 2001). We believe to have kept these risks to a minimum, by taking special care to investigate bias, methodological quality, and by acknowledging the limits of some results in this review.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

The role of lidocaine and its oral analogs to control neuropathic pain was unclear until recently. This lack of definition was due to the multifaceted nature of neuropathic pain, the statistical and clinical heterogeneity of many of the trials, and few study participants. These drugs can relieve pain in selected patients with neuropathic pain, compared with placebo. We found evidence suggesting that this analgesic effect is also clinically important.

Implications for research

There should be greater emphasis on accruing patients with neuropathic pain caused by one disease, with well-structured, consistent trials with active placebos or active drug controls to evaluate the efficacy of local anesthetic-type drugs in the treatment of neuropathic pain from specific etiologies. Future trials should also explore subcutaneous infusions with lidocaine, and move to newer oral analogs with more specificity to sodium channel receptor subtypes and fewer adverse effects. In addition, we recommend that future trials include quality of life or global satisfaction endpoints (Rogers 2000; Turk 2003).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Mrs Frances Fairman of the Cochrane Collaborative Review Group on Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care, Pain Research Unit (University of Oxford, England) for conducting a literature search in EMBASE.

Miroslav-Misha Backonja M.D., University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, USA provided individual patient data for the study cited as Backonja 2000. This trial will be fully published in the Clinical Journal of Pain in 2005 or early 2006.

Andrew Baranowski, M.D., London, UK provided means and standard errors of the means of VAS pain scores for the study cited as Baranowski 1999.

Faye Chiou, M.D., Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas, USA reviewed and verified the absence of side effects from mexiletine in the study cited as Chiou-Tan 1996.

Mark Wallace, M.D., University of California, San Diego, California, USA provided complete information on means, standard deviations of pain scores and adverse effects in the study cited as Wallace 2000b.

Per-Eric Lins, M.D., and Per Oskarsson M.D., Huddinge University Hospital, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden supplied mean pain scores and standard errors for daytime and nocturnal pain for the study cited as Oskarsson 1997.

Prabhav Tella, M.B.B.S., M.S., Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, USA provided means and standard deviations of pretreatment and posttreatment pain scores for lidocaine, placebo, and morphine for the study cited as Wu 2002.

Trolsen Nielsen, M.D., Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark tried to assist in contacting the principal investigator for additional information regarding study cited as Ellemann 1989.

Didier Boussahira, M.D., PhD (Centre d'Evaluation et de Traitement de la Douleur, Paris, France) gave us additional response rates from study cited as Attal 2004.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Attal 2000 {published data only}

Attal N, Gaude V, Brasseur L, Dupuy M, Guirimand F, Parker F, et al. Intravenous lidocaine in central pain: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, psychophysical study. *Neurology* 2000;**54**(3):564-74.

Attal 2004 {published data only}

Attal N, Rouaud J, Brasseur L, Chauvin M, Bouhassira D. Systemic lidocaine in pain due to peripheral nerve injury and predictors of response. *Neurology* 2004;**62**(2):218-25.

Backonja 2000 {unpublished data only}

Backonja MM, Tremont-Lukats IW. Pain relief from lidocaine at three different doses: A randomized controlled trial. *Neurology* 2000;**54**(S3):A81.

Baranowski 1999 {published data only}

Baranowski AP, De Courcey J, Bonello E. A trial of intravenous lidocaine on the pain and allodynia of postherpetic neuralgia. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* 1999;**17**(6):429-33.

Bruera 1992 {published data only}

Bruera E, Ripamonti C, Brennis C, et al. A randomized doubleblind controlled trial of intravenous lidocaine in the treatment of neuropathic cancer patients. *Journal of Pain Symptom Management* 1992;**7**:138-141.

Chabal 1992 {published data only}

Chabal C, Jacobson L, Mariano A, Chaney E, Britell CW. The use of oral mexilitine for the treatment of pain after peripheral nerve injury. *Anesthesiology* 1992;**76**(4):513-7.

Chiou-Tan 1996 {published data only}

Chiou-Tan FY, Tuel SM, Johnson JC, Priebe MM, Hirsh DD, Strayer JR. Effect of mexilitine on spinal cord injury dysesthetic pain. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 1996;**75**(2):84-7.

Dejgard 1988 {published data only}

Dejgard A, Petersen P, Kastrup J. Mexilitine for treatment of chronic painful diabetic neuropathy. *Lancet* 1988;**1**(8575-6):9-11.

Ellemann 1989 {published data only}

Elleman K, Sjogren P, Banning AM, et al. Trial of intravenous lidocaine on painful neuropathy in cancer patients. *Clinical Journal Pain* 1989;**5**(4):291-4.

Fassoulaki 2002 {published data only}

Fassoulaki A, Patris K, Sarantopoulos C, Hogan Q. The analgesic effect of gabapentin and mexilitine after breast surgery for cancer. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* 2002;**95**(4):985-91.

Galer 1996 {published data only}

Galer BS, Harle J, Rowbotham MC. Response to intravenous lidocaine infusion predicts subsequent response to oral

mexilitine: a prospective study. *Journal of Pain Symptom Management* 1996;**12**(3):161-7.

Kastrup 1987 {published data only}

Kastrup J, Petersen P, Dejgard A, Angelo HR, Hilsted J. Intravenous lidocaine infusion - a new treatment of chronic painful diabetic neuropathy? *Pain* 1987;**28**(1):69-75.

Kemper 1998 {published data only}

Kemper CA, Kent G, Burton S, Deresinski SC. Mexiletine for HIVinfected patients with painful peripheral neuropathy: a doubleblind, placebo-controlled, crossover treatment trial. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome Human Retrovirology* 1998;**19**(4):367-72.

Kieburtz 1998 {published data only}

Kieburtz K, Simpson D, Yiannoutsos C, Max MB, Hall CD, Ellis RJ, et al. A randomized trial of amitriptyline and mexilitine for painful neuropathy in HIV infection. AIDS Clinical Trial Group 242 Protocol Team. *Neurology* 1998;**51**(6):1682-8.

Kvarnstrom 2003 {published data only}

Kvarnstrom A, Karlsten R, Quiding H, Emanuelsson BM, Gordh, T. The effectiveness of intravenous ketamine and lidocaine on peripheral neuropathic pain. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2003;**47**:868-77.

Kvarnstrom 2004 {published data only}

Kvarnstrom A, Karlsten R, Quiding H, Gordh T. The analgesic effect of intravenous ketamine and lidocaine on pain after spinal cord injury. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2004;**48**:498-506.

Lindstrom 1987 {published data only}

Lindstrom P, Lindblom U. The analgesic effect of tocainide in trigeminal neuralgia. *Pain* 1987;**28**(1):45-50.

Marchettini 1992 {published data only}

Marchettini P, Lacerenza M, Marangoni C, et al. Lidocaine test in neuralgia. *Pain* 1992;**48**(3):377-82.

Matsuoka 1996 {unpublished data only}

Matsuoka K, Hirata Y, Kanazawa Y. Optimal dose evaluation of mexilitine hydrochloride (MX-PDN) in patients with diabetic polyneuropathy. *Igaku Yakugaku* 1996;**36**(4):665-693.

Matsuoka 1997 {published data only}

Matsuoka K, Kanazawa Y, Ohtake M, Kaihara S. Double-blind trial of mexilitine on painful diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetologia* 1997;**40**(S1):A559.

Medrik 1999 {published data only}

Medrik-Goldberg T, Lifschitz D, Pud D, Adler R, Eisenberg E. Intravenous lidocaine, amantadine, and placebo in the treatment of sciatica: a double-blind, randomized, controlled study. *Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine* 1999;**24**(6):534-40.



Oskarsson 1997 {published and unpublished data}

Oskarsson P, Ljunggren JG, Lins PE. Efficacy and safety of mexiletine in the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy. The Mexilitine Study Group. *Diabetes Care* 1997;**20**(10):1594-7.

Rowbotham 1991 {published data only}

Rowbotham MC, Reisner-Keller LA, Fields HL. Both intravenous lidocaine and morphine reduce the pain of postherpetic neuralgia. *Neurology* 1991;**41**(7):1024-8.

Sörensen 1995 {published data only}

Sorensen J, Bengtsson A, Backman E, Henriksson KG, Bengtsson M. Pain Analysis in patients with fibromyalgia. Effects of intravenous morphine, lidocaine, and ketamine.. *Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology* 1995;**24**(6):360-5.

Stracke 1994 {published data only}

* Stracke H, Meyer U, Schumacher H, Armbrecht U, Beroniade S, Buch K-D, et al. Mexiletine in the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy [Mexiletin in der Behandlung der schmertzhaften diabetischen Neuropathie]. *Med Klin* 1994;**89**(3):124-131.

Wallace 1996 {published data only}

Wallace MS, Dyck JB, Rossi SS, Yaksh TL. Computer-controlled lidocaine infusion for the evaluation of neuropathic pain after peripheral nerve injury. *Pain* 1996;**66**(1):69-77.

Wallace 2000a {published data only}

Wallace MS, Ridgeway BM, Leung AY, Gerayli A, Yaksh TL. Concentration-effect relationship of intravenous lidocaine on the allodynia of complex regional pain syndrome types I and II. *Anesthesiology* 2000;**92**(1):75-83.

Wallace 2000b {published data only}

Wallace MS, Magnuson S, Ridgeway B. Efficacy of oral mexiletine for neuropathic pain with allodynia: a double-blind, placebocontrolled, crossover study. *Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine* 2000;**25**(5):459-67.

Wright 1997 {published data only}

Wright JM, Oki JC, Graves L 3rd. Mexiletine in the symptomatic treatment of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 1997;**31**(1):29-34.

Wu 2002 {published data only}

Wu CL, Tella P, Staats PS, Vaslav R, Kazim DA, Wesselmann U, et al. Analgesic effects of intravenous lidocaine and morphine on postamputation pain: a randomized double-blind, active placebo-controlled, crossover trial. *Anesthesiology* 2002;**96**(4):841-8.

References to studies excluded from this review

Ando 2000 {published data only}

Ando K, Wallace MS, Braun J, Schulteis G. Effect of oral mexiletine on capsaicin-induced allodynia and hyperalgesia: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. *Reg Anesth Pain Med* 2000;**25**(5):468-74.

Bach 1990 {published data only}

Bach FW, Jensen TS, Kastrup J, Stigsby B, Dejgard A. The effect of intravenous lidocaine on nociceptive processing in diabetic neuropathy [see comments]. *Pain* 1990;**40**(1):29-34.

Català 1994 {published data only}

Català E, Ferrándiz M, Aliaga L, Serra R, Castro MA, Villar-Landeira JM. Intravenous lidocaine compared with sympathetic blocks as treatment for post-herpetic neuralgia. A 1-year survey. *The Pain Clinic* 1994;**7**(3):205-210.

Dirks 2000 {published data only}

Dirks J, Fabricius P, Petersen KL, Rowbotham MC, Dahl JB. The effect of systemic lidocaine on pain and secondary hyperalgesia associated with the heat/capsaicin sensitization model in healthy volunteers. *Anesthesia & Analgesia* 2000;**91**(4):967-72.

Dunlop {published data only}

Dunlop RJ, Hockley JM, Tate T, Turner P. Flecainide in cancer nerve pain. *Lancet* 1991;**337**:1347.

Gottrup 2000 {published data only}

* Gottrup H, Hansen PO, Arendt-Nielsen L, Jensen TS. Differential effects of systemically administered ketamine and lidocaine on dynamic and static hyperalgesia induced by intradermal capsaicin in humans. *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 2000;**84**(2):155-162.

Kastrup 1986 {published data only}

Kastrup J, Petersen P, Dejgard A, Hilsted J. Treatment of chronic painful diabetic neuropathy with intravenous lidocaine infusion. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 1986;**292**:173.

Keats 1951 {published data only}

Keats AS, D'Alessandro GL, Beecher HK. A controlled study of pain relief by intravenous procaine. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1951;**147**:1761-3.

Posner 1994 {published data only}

Posner IA. Treatment of fibromyalgia syndrome with intravenous lidocaine: A prospective, randomized pilot study. *Journal of Musculoskeletal Pain* 1994;**2/4**:55-65.

Reljanovic 1996 {unpublished data only}

Reljanovic M, Pibernik M, Beer Z, et al. Mexilitine treatment in painful diabetic polyneuropathy. *Diabetologia* 1996;**39**(S1):A260.

Rowlingson 1980 {published data only}

Rowlingson JC, DiFazio CA, Foster J, Carron H. Lidocaine as an analgesic for experimental pain. *Anesthesiology* 1980;**52**(1):20-2. [MEDLINE: 80107405]

Sakurai 1999 {published data only}

Sakurai M, Kanazawa I. Positive symptoms in multiple sclerosis: their treatment with sodium channel blockers, lidocaine and mexiletine. *J Neurol Sci* 1999;**162**:162-168.



Stracke 1992 {published data only}

Stracke H, Meyer UE, Schumacher HE, Federlin K. Mexiletine in the treatment of diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* 1992;**15**(11):1550-5.

Wallace 1997 {published data only}

Wallace MS, Laitin S, Licht D, Yaksh TL. Concentration-effect relations for intravenous lidocaine infusions in human volunteers: effects on acute sensory thresholds and capsaicinevoked hyperpathia. *Anesthesiology* 1997;**86**(6):1262-72.

Additional references

Abdi 1998

Abdi S, Lee DH, Chung JM. The anti-allodynic effects of amitriptyline, gabapentin, and lidocaine in a rat model of neuropathic pain. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* 1998;**87**(6):1360-6.

Awerbuch 1990

Awerbuch GI, Sandyk R. Mexiletine for thalamic pain syndrome. *International Journal of Neuroscience* 1990;**55**:129-133.

Bartlett 1961

Bartlett EE, Hutaserani O. Xylocaine for the relief of postoperative pain. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* 1961;**40**:296-304.

Boas 1982

Boas RA, Covino BG, Shahnarian A. Analgesic response to i.v. lignocaine. *British Journal of Anesthesia* 1982;**54**:501-505.

Bowsher 1991

Bowsher D. Neurogenic pain syndromes and their management. In: Wells JCD, Woolf CJ, editors(s). Brit Med Bull. Vol. **47**. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, 1991:644-666.

CAST 1989

Cardiac arrhythmia suppression trial (CAST) investigators. Preliminary report: effect of encainide and flecainide on mortality in a randomised trial of arrhythmia suppression after myocardial infarction. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1989;**321**:406-412.

Cepeda 2003

Cepeda MS, Africano JM, Polo R, Alcala R, Carr DB. What decline in pain intensity is meaningful to patients with acute pain? [What decline in pain intensity is meaningful to patients with acute pain?]. *Pain* 2003;**105**:151-7.

De Clive-Lowe 1958

De Clive-Lowe SG, Desmond J, North J. Intravenous lignocaine anesthesia. *Anesthesiology* 1958;**13**:138-46.

Dunlop 1988

Dunlop R, Davies RJ, Hockley J, Turner P. Analgesic effects of oral flecainide. *Lancet* 1988;**1**:420.

Dunlop 1991

Dunlop RJ, Hockley JM, Tate T, Turner P. Flecainide in cancer nerve pain. *Lancet* 1991;**337**:1347.

Dworkin 2003

Dworkin RH, Backonja M, Rowbotham MC, Allen RR, Argoff CR, Bennett G, Bushnell M, Farrar JT, Galer BS, Haythornthwaite JA, Hewitt DJ, Loeser JD, Max MB, Saltarelli M, Schmader KE, Stein C, Thompson D, Turk DC, Wallace MS, Watkins LR, Weinstein S. Advances in Neuropathic Pain: Diagnosis, Mechanisms, and Treatment Recommendations. *Arch Neurol* 2003;**60**(11):1524-34.

Farrar 2000

Farrar JT, Portenoy RK, Berlin JA, et al. Defining the clinically important difference in pain outcome measures. *Pain* 2000;**88**(3):287-94.

Farrar 2001

Farrar JT, Young JP Jr LaMoreaux L, Werth JL, Poole RM. Clinical importance of changes in chronic pain intensity measured on an 11-point numerical pain rating scale. *Pain* 2001;**94**(2):149-58.

Feinstein 1997

Feinstein AR, Horwitz RI. Problems in the "evidence" of "evidence-based medicine". *American Journal of Medicine* 1997;**103**(6):529-35.

Fergusson 2004

Fergusson D, Glass KC, Waring D, Shapiro S. Turning a blind eye: the success of blinding reported in a random sample of randomised, placebo controlled trials. *BMJ* 2004;**328**(7437):432.

Galer 1993

Galer BS, Miller KV, Rowbotham MC. Response to intravenous lidocaine infusion differs based on clinical diagnosis and site of nervous system injury. *Neurology* 1993;**43**(6):1233-5.

Gilbert 1951

Gilbert CR, Hanson IR, Brown AB, Hingson RA. Intravenous use of xylocaine. *Curr Res Anesth Analg* 1951;**30**:301-13.

Hedges 2001

Hedges LV, Pigott TD. The power of statistical tests in metaanalysis. *Psychological Methods* 2001;**6**(3):203-17.

Jadad 1996

Jadad AR, Moore RA, Carrol D. Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary? *Control Clin Trials* 1996;**17**:1-12.

Kalso 1998

Kalso E, Tramer MR, McQuay HJ, Moore RA. Systemic localanaesthetic-type drugs in chronic pain: a systematic review. *European Journal of Pain* 1998;**2**(1):3-14.

Kjaergard 2001

Kjaergard LL, Villumsen J, Gluud C. Reported methodologic quality and discrepancies between large and small randomized trials in meta-analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2001;**135**:982-989.



Lau 1997

Lau J, Ioannidis JP, Schmid CH. Quantitative synthesis in systematic reviews. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1997;**127**:820-826.

Lefebvre 2001

Lefebvre C, Clarke MJ. Identifying randomised trials. In: Egger M, Smith GD, Altman DG, editors(s). Systematic reviews in health care. Meta-analysis in context. 2nd edition. London: BMJ Publishing Group, 2001:69-86.

Lindblom 1984

Lindblom U. Reduction of hyperpathia indicates pain relief. *Pain* 1984;**18**(3):322.

Mao 2000

Mao J, Chen LL. Systemic lidocaine for neuropathic pain relief. *Pain* 2000;**87**(1):7-17.

Merskey 1994

Merskey H, Bogduk N. Classification of chronic pain: description of chronic pain syndromes and definitions of pain terms. In: Merskey H, Bogduk N, editors(s). IASP publication. 2nd Edition. Seattle, WA: IASP Press, 1994:222.

Nagy 1996

Nagy I, Woolf CJ. Lignocaine selectively reduces C fibre-evoked neuronal activity in rat spinal cord in vitro by decreasing Nmethyl-D-aspartate and neurokinin receptor-mediated postsynaptic depolarizations; implications for the development of novel centrally acting analgesics. *Pain* 1996;**64**(1):59-70.

Petersen 1986

Petersen P, Kastrup J, Zeeberg I, Boysen G. Chronic pain treatment with intravenous lidocaine. *Neurol Res* 1986;**8**(3):189-90.

Rogers 2000 Rogers WH, Wittink HM, Ashburn MA, Cynn D, Carr DB. Using

the "TOPS," an Outcomes Instrument for Multidisciplinary Outpatient Pain Treatment. *Pain Medicine* 2000;**1**(1):55.

Sindrup 1999

Sindrup SH, Jensen TS. Efficacy of pharmacological treatments of neuropathic pain: An update and effect related to mechanism of drug action. *Pain* 1999;**83**:389-400.

Sindrup 2000

Sindrup SH, Jensen TS. Pharmacologic treatment of pain in polyneuropathy. *Neurology* 2000;**55**(7):915-20. [MEDLINE: 20513422]

Soares 2004

Soares HP, Daniels S, Kumar A, Clarke M, Scott C, Swann S, Djulbegovic B. Bad reporting does not mean bad methods for randomized trials: Observational study of randomised controlled trials performed by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. *BMJ* 2004;**328**:22-5.

Sriwatanakul 1982

Sriwatanakul K, Kelvie W, Lasagna L. The quantification of pain: an analysis of words used to describe pain and analgesia in clinical trials. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 1982;**32**(2):143-8.

Turk 2003

Turk DC, Dworkin RH, Allen RR, Bellamy N, Brandenburg N, Carr DB. Core outcome domains for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. *Pain* 2003;**106**(3):337-45.

Woolf 1985

Woolf CJ, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z. The systemic administration of local anesthetics produces a selective depression of C-afferent fiber evoked activity in the spinal cord. *Pain* 1985;**23**:361-374.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Attal 2000	
Study characteristics	
Methods	Crossover, with 3-wk washout Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 4
Participants	18 (16 evaluable); neuropathic pain from stroke and spinal cord injury
Interventions	Lidocaine: 5 mg/kg x 30 min
Outcomes	Compared with placebo, lidocaine significantly reduced evoked pain at the end of treatment (P<0.05, Median difference = - 30, 95% CI: -50 to 0). Lidocaine did not significantly improve spontaneous pain over placebo (Median difference = - 16.5, 95% CI: -38 to 5). Significant analgesia on spontaneous pain for the first 45 min post-injection. During 3 weeks follow-up, no difference in pain between lidocaine



Attal 2000 (Continued)	and placebo. No statistically significant difference between placebo and lidocaine in mechanothermal detection and pain thresholds. Global assessment of pain: 11/32 patients reported moderate-complete pain relief vs 6/32 with placebo.
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 11/16 Placebo: 5/16; 1/16 stopped lidocaine for somnolence and lightheadedness; 2/16 had dysarthria, somnolence, n/v; and dose of lidocaine was reduced.
Risk of bias	

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Attal 2004 Study characteristics Methods Crossover, with 2-wk washout Placebo - 0.9% saline **Oxford Quality Score: 5** Participants 24 (22 evaluable); peripheral neuropathic pain (trauma, n=14; PHN, n=8). All patients had spontaneous ongoing pain. Interventions Lidocaine 5 mg/kg IV x 30 min. Outcomes Spontaneous pain intensity was assessed with 100 mm VAS every 15 min after treatment x 1 h, at 90 min, 120 min, and 6 h. Tactile and thermal allodynia were also investigated. Lidocaine significantly decreased spontaneous ongoing pain starting 30 min after infusion until end of study. Lidocaine also reduced mechanical allodynia and hyperalgesia for up to 120 min. No effect on thermal allodynia/hyperalgesia. Notes Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 16/22 Placebo: 5/22 with placebo. Mean number of side effects (mostly mild to moderate and mainly consisting of lightheadedness, perioral numbness, and garbled speech) was 1.7+/-1.4 for lidocaine and 0.5+/-1 for placebo. Sixteen patients continued treatment with mexiletine. **Risk of bias** Bias Authors' judgement Support for judgement Allocation concealment Low risk A - Adequate (selection bias)

Backonja 2000

Study characteristics

Backonja 2000 (Continued)

Methods	Parallel pilot Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 4			
Participants	32 (31 evaluable); perip	32 (31 evaluable); peripheral neuropathic pain		
Interventions	Lidocaine at 1, 3, and 5	Lidocaine at 1, 3, and 5 mg/kg/h IV infusions over 6 h, plus an observation time of 4 h (Total: 10 h)		
Outcomes	Overall, no difference between median placebo and lidocaine pain scores. Post-hoc analysis showed that lidocaine 5 mg/kg/h significantly decreased pain scores over placebo at 5 h (P = 0.05), and 10 h (P = 0.09) of iv treatment.			
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Placebo: 6/7 lidocaine (all doses): 21/23. Median number of adverse events between placebo and lidocaine arms not significantly different; 1/32 withdrawn because no data available for analysis. 2/32 stopped treatment before 6 h because of persisting nausea.			
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate		

Baranowski 1999

Study characteristics		
Methods	Crossover, with 1-wk w Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 3	ashout
Participants	24; PHN	
Interventions	Lidocaine IV 2-h infusio	on at 1 and 5 mg/kg
Outcomes	No difference between and 5 mg/kg significan	placebo and lidocaine in reducing spontaneous or evoked pain. Lidocaine at 1 tly reduced the area of allodynia by 65 and 85%, respectively
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - 1 Lidocaine (5 mg/kg): 2/	nature; withdrawals: /24 - circumoral paresthesia.
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear



Bruera 1992

Study characteristics		
Methods	Crossover, with 48-h wa Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 4	ashout
Participants	10; neuropathic pain fr	om cancer
Interventions	Lidocaine 5 mg/kg IV	
Outcomes	Lidocaine no better than placebo. Pain levels not significantly lower than pretreatment scores	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: No adverse events noted	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate

Chabal 1992

Study characteristics				
Methods	Crossover with 1-wk w Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 4	Crossover with 1-wk washout Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 4		
Participants	14 (11 evaluable); perip al or cranial nerve inju	14 (11 evaluable); peripheral neuropathic pain (idiopathic painful polyneuropathy n=3; other peripher- al or cranial nerve injuries, n=8)		
Interventions	Mexiletine starting at 150 mg po bid x 3 d, with titration up to 750 mg po/day x 15 days. Once at steady- level, patients were followed on that dose x 4 weeks, tapered in one wk, and switched to alternate treatment			
Outcomes	Mexiletine (450 mg/day) significantly reduced pretreatment median pain scores by 15 mm, P < 0.04), but not when compared to placebo. Mexiletine (750 mg po/day) significantly improved baseline (P = 0.01) and placebo (P = 0.02) pain scores by 30 mm each. Comparing mexiletine 750 mg/day with placebo, the difference between means was 26.4, SE difference: 9.87; 95% CI: 5.78 to 46.94. 6/11 of patients had pain relief on mexiletine, 0/11 with placebo. Pain w/ burning quality responded better than other pain types.			
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Mexiletine: 2/11 - mild nausea No withdrawals.			
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate		



Chiou-Tan 1996

Study characteristics				
Methods	Crossover with 1-wk wa Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 4	ashout		
Participants	15 (11 evaluable); dyse	15 (11 evaluable); dysesthetic pain from spinal cord injuries		
Interventions	Mexiletine 450 mg po d	laily		
Outcomes	No difference between	No difference between mexiletine and placebo		
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Adverse events not reported; Withdrawals (4/15): atrial fibrillation (n=1); imprisonment (n=1); noncompliance (n=2).			
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear		

Dejgard 1988

Study characteristics		
Methods	Crossover with 4-wk wa Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 3	ashout
Participants	16; diabetic neuropath	y > 6 months duration
Interventions	Mexiletine 10 mg/kg/da	ay after titration from 150 mg/day
Outcomes	mexiletine better than subitem in FIS was sign	placebo using both scales (P = 0.02 for VAS, P<0.01 for total FIS scores; every ificantly improved except night exacerbation and sleep disturbances
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - r Mexiletine: 3/16 Placebo: 0/16	nature; withdrawals:
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear



Ellemann 1989

Study characteristics

Methods	Crossover, with 1-wk washout Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 3	
Participants	20; neuropathic cancer pain (n=10) polyneuropathy (n=7) plexopathy (n=3)	
Interventions	Lidocaine (5 mg/kg) IV	
Outcomes	No difference between placebo or lidocaine to reduce allodynia (P = 0.99)	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 1/10 -transient drowsiness	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Fassoulaki 2002

Study characteristics		
Methods	Parallel Placebo capsule; Active Oxford Quality Score: 5	e - gabapentin 5
Participants	75 (67 evaluable); brea	st cancer undergoing mastectomy or lumpectomy with axillary node dissection
Interventions	Mexiletine 600 mg po/o days	day, gabapentin 1200 mg po/day, or placebo divided in three equal doses, x 10
Outcomes	Three months postmas (45% with mexiletine, 5 cantly more frequent ir (1/20), or gabapentin (2	stectomy: the incidence of postmastectomy pain did not differ among groups 54% for gabapentin, and 58% for placebo). The burning-type of pain was signifi- n patients treated with placebo (7/24), compared to those who took mexiletine 1/22) (P=0.033, Fisher exact test)
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - Mexiletine: 1/21 - n/v Gabapentin: 0/22 Placebo: 0/24	nature; withdrawals:
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate



Galer 1996

Study characteristics			
Methods	Crossover with 1-wk washout. No control - see "Interventions" Oxford Quality Score: 3		
Participants	Nine; diabetic polyneuropathy (n=5), other polyneuropathy (n=1), nerve injury (n=2), and lumbosacral arachnoiditis (n=1)		
Interventions	Lidocaine 2 mg/kg, 5 mg/kg IV, x 45 min in separate sessions. After second treatment, mexiletine 300 mg/day with possibility to titrate to 1200 mg/day		
Outcomes	Lidocaine infusion rate: Statistically significant decrease in mean pain scores for both lidocaine doses. Mexiletine phase: 5/9 (55%) reported moderate or greater pain relief on pain relief scale.		
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 1/9 - weakness after each infusion		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear	

Kastrup 1987

Study characteristics			
Methods	Crossover, with 5-wk washout Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 2		
Participants	15; painful diabetic neuropathy		
Interventions	Lidocaine 5 mg/kg IV infusion x 30 min		
Outcomes	Patients on lidocaine had significantly less pain than those with placebo, using FIS and VAS scores (P < 0.05, P < 0.02 on days 1 and 8 respectively). Responder rate was 11/15 on lidocaine compared to 4/15 on placebo 3 days after infusions (P < 0.05). Duration of pain relief from lidocaine was 14 d using FIS and 3 d using VAS. No correlation between lidocaine plasma levels and treatment effects.		
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: No adverse events reported with placebo or lidocaine.		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear	



Kemper 1998

Study characteristics

Methods	Crossover, with 1-wk washout Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 3	
Participants	22 (16 evaluable); HIV-1-related painful polyneuropathy	
Interventions	Mexiletine up to 600 mg/day x 6 weeks	
Outcomes	No difference between placebo and mexiletine (P = 0.76). 31% of patients had less pain compared to 31% of patients when they received placebo. Six patients (38%) did not feel relief with either drug.	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Mexiletine: 9/16 - n/v (n=9), other GI toxicity (n=1) Placebo: 5/16 - n/v (n=2), diarrhea (n=2), headache and palpitations (n=1); Mexiletine: dose reduction necessary in 4/16 and discontinuation in 3/16 - rash (n=1) and GI toxicity (n=2). Placebo: discontinued in 1/16 - EKG changes.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Kieburtz 1998

Study characteristics				
Methods	Parallel Placebo capsule; Active - amitriptyline Oxford Quality Score: 5			
Participants	145 (126 evaluable); HI	145 (126 evaluable); HIV-1-related painful polyneuropathy		
Interventions	Mexiletine escalating from 150 mg/day to 300 mg po bid, or amitriptyline 100 mg po each evening, with a 4-wk titration phase, followed by a 4-wk maintenance phase and a downward titration period			
Outcomes	No difference between placebo, mexiletine, or amitriptyline to improve pain, mood, or QoL. Also, there was no difference in change of analgesic doses. mexiletine mean levels at wk 8 were 0.30+/-0.28 mcg/ml			
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Mexiletine: 22/48 - n/v (n=10), dizziness (n=1), urinary retention (n=3), other (n=8). Placebo: 6/50 -confusion (n=2), urinary retention (n=1), other (n=3).			
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate		



Kvarnstrom 2003

Study characteristics				
Methods	Crossover, with 1-wk washout (except one case in whom washout was 2 days) Placebo - 0.9% saline; Active - ketamine Oxford Quality Score: 3			
Participants	12; peripheral neuropat	12; peripheral neuropathic pain (trauma, surgery, compression). Mean duration of pain 5.5 years		
Interventions	Ketamine 0.4 mg/kg vs. Lidocaine 2.5 mg/kg (1.0 mg/kg x 10 min, then 1.5 mg/kg x 30 min). Venous blood samples taken at time 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 120, and 150 min for concentrations of ketamine and lido- caine.			
Outcomes	Intensity of spontaneous pain on a 10-cm VAS scale, measured at times 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 120, and 150 min. Responders defined as those with >50% reduction of pain scores below baseline. Dynamic, static, and thermal sensitivity also evaluated. No difference between lidocaine and ketamine (55% and 34% mean pain reduction, respectively) or between lidocaine and placebo (34% vs. 22% mean pain reduction). Response to treatment was recorded in 7/12 (ketamine), 4/12 (lidocaine), and 2/12 (placebo). No correlation between lidocaine concentration and pain response.			
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 29 reports of adverse events Placebo: 11 reports. Actual number of patients reporting any adverse effect not reported (although all 12 in ketamine group experienced somnolence). No dropouts.			
Risk of bias				
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement		
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate		

Kvarnstrom 2004

Study characteristics	
Methods	Crossover, with at least a 4 day washout. Placebo - 0.9% saline; Active - ketamine Oxford Quality Score: 3
Participants	10; spinal cord injury.
Interventions	Ketamine 0.4 mg/kg vs. lidocaine 2.5 mg/kg (1.0 mg/kg x 10 min, then 1.5 mg/kg x 30 min). Venous blood samples taken at time 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 120, and 150 min for concentrations of ketamine and lido- caine.
Outcomes	Intensity of spontaneous pain on a 10-cm VAS scale, measured at times 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 120, and 150 min. Responders were defined as those with >50% reduction of pain scores below baseline scores. Dynamic, static, and thermal sensitivity also evaluated. Mean maximal pain reduction was 38% (ketamine), 10% (lidocaine), and 3% (placebo). No difference between lidocaine and placebo (P = 0.31). Responders: 5/10, 1/10, and 0/10 had significant analgesia with ketamine, lidocaine, and placebo respectively
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals:



Kvarnstrom 2004 (Continued)

ketamine: 9/10
lidocaine: 5/10
placebo: 0/10

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate

Lindstrom 1987

Study characteristics			
Methods	Crossover, washout unclear Active - carbamazepine Oxford Quality Score: 3		
Participants	12 (8 evaluable); idiopathic trigeminal neuralgia		
Interventions	Tocainide 20 mg/kg tid x 2 weeks or carbamazepine x 2 weeks (dose not stated)		
Outcomes	Tocainide as effective as carbamazepine against idiopathic trigeminal neuralgia, significantly decreas- ing mean pain scores from 75 (baseline) to 33.4 (Difference between means: 41.6; 95% CI: 19.1 to 64.1; P = 0.0015). One patient did not have any pain scores to compare.		
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Tocainide: 3/11 -nausea (n=1), paresthesias (n=1), and skin rash that prompted discontinuation of the drug (n=1)		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear	

Marchettini 1992

Study characteristics	
Methods	Crossover, washout not reported Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 3
Participants	10; peripheral neuropathic pain. In 7 patients pain was related to surgery.
Interventions	Lidocaine 1.5 mg/kg over 1 min
Outcomes	10/10 patients had pain relief to lidocaine that lasted up to 35 min. Mean pretreatment VAS: 64.10; Mean 15-min posttreatment VAS: 16.90 (P < 0.001). At 35 min, there was no statistically significant dif-



Marchettini 1992 (Continued)

ference between placebo and lidocaine. Mild pain reduction w/ placebo in 1/10 patients. Disappearance of allodynia in 6/6 patients.

Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 4/10 -lightheadedness; No withdrawals.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Matsuoka 1996

Study characteristics		
Methods	Parallel Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 2	
Participants	169; diabetic polyneuro	opathy
Interventions	Mexiletine 100 mg po tid, mexiletine 150 mg po tid	
Outcomes	Responder rate was 35%, 38%, and 21% in patients taking mexiletine 300 mg/day, 450 mg/day, and placebo, respectively. Information on this trial taken from the mexiletine review by Jarvis & Coukell. Based on the data pre- sented in table IV of that review, combined responder rate to mexiletine was 36.4%, 20% for placebo (Difference: 16%, 95% CI: 1.4% to 28.5%)	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: No mention of adverse events	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Matsuoka 1997

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 2
Participants	118 (111 evaluable); diabetic polyneuropathy
Interventions	Mexiletine 100 mg po tid x 2 weeks

Matsuoka 1997 (Continued)

Outcomes	Mexiletine was better than placebo at the end of 1st wk (42% vs. 17.4%, p < 0.05) and at the 2nd wk (53% vs. 20%, P < 0.05)	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: No mention of adverse events, toxicity, or withdrawals.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Medrik 1999

Study characteristics			
Methods	Crossover, with 2 to 7-c Placebo - 0.9% saline; / Oxford Quality Score: 4	lay washout Active - amantadine	
Participants	30; painful lumbosacral radiculopathy, confirmed by neuro-imaging: L4-L5 (n=15); L5-S1 (n=14); L3-L4 (n=7); and L2-L3 (n=2). Six patients had multi-level involvement		
Interventions	Lidocaine 5 mg/kg or a	mantadine 2.5 mg/kg IV x 2 h	
Outcomes	Spontaneous pain: lidc (P < 0.05), 120, and 180 than placebo or amant	ocaine was significantly better than placebo or amantadine to relieve pain at 30 min (P < 0.01 for both time points). Evoked pain: lidocaine significantly better adine to reduce evoked pain (P<0.05).	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: 24/30 patients reported adverse events: 37 total events with lidocaine and 3 with placebo		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear	

Oskarsson 1997

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 3
Participants	126 (115 evaluable); painful diabetic neuropathy
Interventions	Mexiletine 225 mg, (group I); 450 mg (group 2); 675 mg (group III) po tid.



Oskarsson 1997 (Continued) Outcomes No difference between three different mexiletine doses and placebo for day time pain (P = 0.15); mexiletine 675 mg/day significantly better than placebo to relieve nocturnal pain and sleep disturbances (P = 0.03 and P = 0.046, respectively). No significant correlation between plasma concentration, analgesic effect, or adverse events. There was no change in consumption of analgesics. Notes Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Mexiletine: 15/84

Placebo: 2/31

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Rowbotham 1991

Study characteristics		
Methods	Crossover, with 48-h washout Placebo - 0.9% saline; Active - morphine Oxford Quality Score: 3	
Participants	19; PHN for > 3 months	
Interventions	Lidocaine: target dose = 5 mg/kg IV vs. IV morphine	
Outcomes	Both lidocaine and mo ly). Lidocaine not differ	rphine were significantly better than placebo (P = 0.04 and P = 0.02, respective- rent than morphine.
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Withdrawals: 1/19 on lidocaine	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Stracke 1994

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 3
Participants	95; diabetic neuropathy
Interventions	Mexiletine 450-675 mg po daily



Stracke 1994 (Continued)		
Outcomes	Overall, no difference between mexiletine and placebo to relieve pain (P = 0.06; 95% CI: -8.6 to 0.2), but mexiletine seemed to be more effective than placebo with stabbing, heat, burning, or formication during the run-in phase of the study. Also, there was no difference in acetaminophen use between placebo and mexiletine	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Mexiletine: 11/46 (only with 675 mg/day) Placebo: 6/48	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Sörensen 1995

Study characteristics		
Methods	Crossover, with 1-wk washout Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 3	
Participants	12; fibromyalgia	
Interventions	Lidocaine 5 mg/kg IV x	30 min
Outcomes	Pain intensity was sign (P < 0.05 in both cases) cle strength of hip flexc flexors noted in the lide	ificantly reduced during infusion and 15 min after infusion in the lidocaine group . No difference between placebo and lidocaine was seen in tender points, mus- ors and handgrip, or endurance. A significant increase in strength of wrist dorsi- ocaine group (P = 0.03).
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 3/12 -nausea and perioral numbness (n=2), drowsiness, dysarthria, and tremor (n=1)	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Wallace 1996

Study characteristics	
Methods	Crossover, with 1-wk washout Placebo - 0.9% saline Oxford Quality Score: 3
Participants	11; neuropathic pain from peripheral nerve injury



Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Wallace 1996 (Continued)		
Interventions	Lidocaine IV infusions	targeted to deliver plasma concentrations of 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0 and 2.5 mcg/ml
Outcomes	lidocaine caused a statistically significant reduction in pain scores compared with placebo (P < 0.05) at concentrations >= 1.5 mcg/ml (between 35 min and 50 min of infusion). There was also a significant reduction in the area of mechanical allodynia, as compared with placebo (P<0.05)	
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Lidocaine: 7/11 - lightheadedness (n=6), nausea (n=1) Placebo: 1/11 -lightheadedness	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Wallace 2000a

Study characteristics	
Methods	Crossover, with 1-wk washout Placebo - diphenhydramine IV Oxford Quality Score: 3
Participants	16; complex regional pain syndrome, types I and II
Interventions	Lidocaine IV infusions targeted to deliver plasma concentrations of 1.0, 1.5, 2.0 and 3.0 mcg/ml or diphenhydramine 70-80 mg
Outcomes	lidocaine caused a statistically significant reduction in cool-evoked pain in the allodynic areas at all three concentration levels, but not with spontaneous pain, or pain evoked by hot, stroking, or von Frey's hairs
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Actual numbers of patients reporting adverse events not reported. Mean lightheadedness score higher in lidocaine group than placebo (P < 0.05). Sedation and dry mouth scores similar between groups.
Risk of bias	

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear

Wallace 2000b

Study characteristics Methods Crossover, with 1-wk washout Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score: 4

Wallace 2000b (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Participants	20; peripheral neuropathic pain: CRPS I/II (n=10), idiopathic polyneuropathy(n=3), diabetic polyneu- ropathy(n=1), PHN (n=3), nerve root injury (n=1).					
Interventions	Mexiletine starting at 150 mg po bid titrated up to 300 mg po tid over 10 days					
Outcomes	18/20 patients tolerated mexiletine 900 mg/day. Peak plasma mexiletine levels were 0.54 mcg/ml. There was no significant effect on area of allodynia, spontaneous pain (P = 0.06), or evoked pain, except stroke-evoked pain by day 10. Plasma levels did not correlate with daily pain scores. Overall, there was no effect of treatment on QoL except on one subitem of the CSQ and the WHYS					
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: Mexiletine: 12/20 - non-GI (trismus, headache, agitation, nightmares, and tremors) (n=11), nausea and sedation (no rates given). Placebo: 4/20					
Risk of bias						
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement				
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	B - Unclear				
Wright 1997						
Study characteristics						
Methods	Parallel Placebo capsule Oxford Quality Score:5					
Participants	31 (29 evaluable); peri	pheral diabetic neuropathy				
Interventions	Mexiletine titrated ove	r four days to 200 mg po tid				
Outcomes	The authors found no o mm, 95% CI: -7.1 to 40. crease in pain scores > statistically different.	difference between placebo and mexiletine to reduce mean pain scores, (16.5 2 mm, P = 0.19). FIS scores and proportion of patients with relevant relief (a de- 20 mm, 8/14 in the mexiletine group and 7/15 in the placebo group) were not				
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - Lidocaine: 7/15 Placebo: 3/14; Withdrawals: 6/31 (4 fr	nature; withdrawals: om adverse events, 2 from placebo, and 2 from mexiletine).				
Risk of bias						
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement				
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate				



Wu 2002

Study characteristics								
Methods	Crossover, with 24-h washout Placebo - diphenhydramine IV; Active - morphine IV Oxford Quality Score: 5							
Participants	32 (31 evaluable); post (n=11).	32 (31 evaluable); postamputation pain: stump pain alone (n=11) phantom pain alone (n=9), and both (n=11).						
Interventions	Lidocaine 1 mg/kg bolı vs. active placebo (dipl	Lidocaine 1 mg/kg bolus and a 4 mg/kg iv infusion vs. morphine 0.5 mg/kg bolus + 0.02 mg/kg infusion vs. active placebo (diphenhydramine, 10 mg bolus iv + 40 mg infusion). All infusions lasted 40 min.						
Outcomes	Compared with placebo, lidocaine significantly reduced stump (P < 0.01) but not phantom pain (P > 0.05) on computerized VAS. However, lidocaine was significantly better than placebo and equal to morphine in self-reported ratings of pain and satisfaction (For stump pain, the difference between means: -24.6; SE difference: 7.93; 95% CI: -8.6 to -40.6; For phantom pain, the difference between means: -22.6, SE difference: 7.33, 95% CI: -7.7 to -37.4). The NNT was 2.5 (95% CI: 1.5 to 7.4) for stump pain and 3.8 (95% CI: 1.9 to 16.6) for phantom pain. Mean plasma lidocaine level: 2.1+/-1.5 mcg/ml.							
Notes	Adverse events (n/N) - nature; withdrawals: No adverse events reported. Mean sedation scores not different between placebo, morphine, and lido- caine; 1/32 withdrawn because of no pain before treatment.							
Risk of bias								
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement						
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	A - Adequate						

Because many trials contained comparisons of different drugs, the trials in this table are listed simply in alphabetical order. PHN: Postherpetic neuralgia; IV: intravenous; SE: standard error; n/v: nausea and vomiting; po: per os; bid: twice daily; tid: three times daily; VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; 95% CI: 95% confidence intervals; QoL = quality of life

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Ando 2000	Acute experimental pain in healthy volunteers
Bach 1990	Double-blind, crossover study without random allocation
Català 1994	No blinding method
Dirks 2000	1. Nociceptive pain 2. Healthy volunteers
Dunlop	Drug removed from the market
Gottrup 2000	Experimental pain in healthy participants
Kastrup 1986	An extended version was published one year later
Keats 1951	1. No random allocation

Study	Reason for exclusion
	2. Acute postoperative pain
Posner 1994	No blinding method. This was a randomized, placebo control trial of intravenous lidocaine in pa- tients with fibromyalgia.
Reljanovic 1996	No random allocation
Rowlingson 1980	Healthy participants
Sakurai 1999	1. No random allocation. 2. No blinding method.
Stracke 1992	The version published in German two years later had means and SD of pain VAS scores, necessary for the meta-analysis
Wallace 1997	Healthy participants

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Efficacy of lidocaine or mexiletine vs. placebo control

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.1 Post intervention/placebo mean VAS (0-100) pain scores (Random effects model)	20	750	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-11.18 [-14.97, -7.40]
1.1.1 Lidocaine IV trials	11	373	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-11.26 [-17.30, -5.22]
1.1.2 Mexiletine trials	9	377	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-11.11 [-16.25, -5.97]
1.2 Significant pain relief by re- sponse rates	14	589	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	3.39 [2.08, 5.55]
1.2.1 Lidocaine	9	229	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	5.06 [2.36, 10.84]
1.2.2 Mexiletine	5	360	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	2.52 [1.47, 4.31]

Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Efficacy of lidocaine or mexiletine vs. placebo control, Outcome 1: Post intervention/placebo mean VAS (0-100) pain scores (Random effects model)

	Т	Treatment		Placebo				Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.1.1 Lidocaine IV tria	als								
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	3.9%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]	
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	6.0%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]	
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	2.4%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]	
Baranowski 1999	17.5	31.35	24	10.08	27.24	24	4.1%	7.42 [-9.20 , 24.04]	_
Bruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	2.1%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	_
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	26.34	15	3.3%	-7.10 [-26.11 , 11.91]	
Marchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	3.7%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]	_
Medrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	5.4%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]	
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	3.9%	-13.80 [-30.97 , 3.37]	
Wallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	36.66	11	2.1%	-30.30 [-54.87 , -5.73]	_ —
Wu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	25.5	22	5.1%	-13.60 [-28.09 , 0.89]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			187			186	42.1%	-11.26 [-17.30 , -5.22]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	25.12; Chi ² = 2	13.23, df =	= 10 (P = 0	.21); I ² = 24	%				•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 3.65 (P =	0.0003)							
1.1.2 Mexiletine trials									
Chabal 1992	40.9	29.14	11	67.5	14.22	11	3.3%	-26.60 [-45.76 , -7.44]	
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	24	11	87	15	11	4.1%	-10.00 [-26.73 , 6.73]	
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	10.1%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]	
Fassoulaki 2002	16	19	20	19	20	24	7.0%	-3.00 [-14.55 , 8.55]	
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	4.0%	-7.40 [-24.28 , 9.48]	_ _
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	13.8%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	+
Stracke 1994	35	28	47	35	24	48	7.9%	0.00 [-10.50 , 10.50]	
Wallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	4.5%	-8.90 [-24.53 , 6.73]	_ _ +
Wright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	16	3.2%	-17.40 [-36.73 , 1.93]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			184			193	57.9%	-11.11 [-16.25 , -5.97]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	21.75; Chi ² = 2	13.12, df =	8 (P = 0.1	1); I ² = 39%	6				•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 4.24 (P <	0.0001)							
Total (95% CI)			371			379	100.0%	-11.18 [-14.97 , -7.40]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 1	.8.59; Chi ² = 2	26.36, df =	= 19 (P = 0	.12); I ² = 28	1%				•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 5.79 (P <	0.00001)							
Test for subgroup differ	ences: Chi ² =	0.00, df =	1 (P = 0.9)	7), $I^2 = 0\%$					Favors treatment Favors placebo



Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Efficacy of lidocaine or mexiletine vs. placebo control, Outcome 2: Significant pain relief by response rates

Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total				
				Iotai	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% CI	
1.2.1 Lidocaine								
Attal 2000	11	16	6	16	8.2%	3.67 [0.85 , 15.84]		
Attal 2004	16	22	5	22	9.1%	9.07 [2.31 , 35.65]		
Backonja 2000	4	8	0	7	2.3%	15.00 [0.64 , 348.93]		_
Ellemann 1989	2	10	3	10	4.8%	0.58 [0.07 , 4.56]		
Kastrup 1987	11	15	4	15	7.1%	7.56 [1.50 , 38.15]		
Kvarnstrom 2003	4	12	2	12	5.3%	2.50 [0.36 , 17.32]		
Kvarnstrom 2004	1	10	0	10	2.0%	3.32 [0.12 , 91.60]		
Marchettini 1992	10	10	1	10	2.0%	133.00 [4.81 , 3674.23]		→
Sörensen 1995	4	12	1	12	3.8%	5.50 [0.51 , 59.01]		
Subtotal (95% CI)		115		114	44.6%	5.06 [2.36 , 10.84]		
Total events:	63		22				•	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.7$	28; Chi ² = 1	0.14, df =	8 (P = 0.26); I ² = 21%	ó			
Test for overall effect: Z	= 4.17 (P <	0.0001)						
1.2.2 Mexiletine								
Chabal 1992	6	11	2	11	5.3%	5.40 [0.78 , 37.50]		
Kemper 1998	5	16	5	16	8.0%	1.00 [0.22 , 4.46]		
Matsuoka 1996	40	110	12	56	17.9%	2.10 [0.99 , 4.42]		
Matsuoka 1997	29	55	11	56	16.0%	4.56 [1.96 , 10.63]		
Wright 1997	8	14	7	15	8.2%	1.52 [0.35 , 6.60]	_	
Subtotal (95% CI)		206		154	55.4%	2.52 [1.47 , 4.31]	•	
Total events:	88		37				•	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$	05; Chi ² = 4	.64, df = 4	(P = 0.33)	I ² = 14%				
Test for overall effect: Z	= 3.38 (P =	0.0007)						
Total (95% CI)		321		268	100.0%	3.39 [2.08 , 5.55]		
Total events:	151		59				•	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.7$	21; Chi ² = 1	7.54, df =	13 (P = 0.1	8); I ² = 26	%		0.001 0.1 1 10	1000
Test for overall effect: Z	= 4.88 (P <	0.00001)					Favors placebo Favors treat	ment

Test for subgroup differences: $Chi^2 = 2.14$, df = 1 (P = 0.14), $I^2 = 53.3\%$

Comparison 2. Subgroup analyses for comparison 01

Outcome or subgroup ti- tle	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.1 By sample size	20		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
2.1.1 Fewer than 25 pa- tients	17	535	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-12.44 [-16.92, -7.97]
2.1.2 More than 25 pa- tients	3	213	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-6.72 [-16.21, 2.76]
2.2 By time of outcome measurement	20	749	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-10.91 [-14.91, -6.91]
2.2.1 Minutes (less than 24 h)	10	343	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-11.58 [-18.34, -4.82]



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup ti- tle	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.2.2 More than 24 h	10	406	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-10.50 [-15.71, -5.30]
2.3 By time of outcome measurement (minus Stracke trial)	19	656	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-12.21 [-15.85, -8.57]
2.3.1 Minutes (< 24 h)	10	343	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-11.58 [-18.34, -4.82]
2.3.2 > 24 h	9	313	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-12.85 [-16.71, -8.99]
2.4 By time of outcome measurement (minus 3 tri- als with wide data spread)	17	563	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-13.99 [-17.25, -10.72]
2.4.1 Minutes (< 24 h)	9	295	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-13.83 [-19.67, -7.99]
2.4.2 > 24 h	8	268	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-14.06 [-18.00, -10.12]
2.5 By trial design	20		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
2.5.1 Crossover	15	506	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-12.25 [-16.70, -7.81]
2.5.2 Parallel	5	243	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-9.34 [-17.88, -0.81]
2.6 By methodological quality	20	748	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-10.94 [-14.89, -6.98]
2.6.1 Score: 2-3 points	9	375	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-9.31 [-15.78, -2.85]
2.6.2 Score: 4 points	7	211	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-12.56 [-19.47, -5.64]
2.6.3 Score: 5 points	4	162	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-12.10 [-20.00, -4.20]
2.7 By etiologic category	19		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
2.7.1 Peripheral (metabol- ic)	5	246	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-11.06 [-18.97, -3.15]
2.7.2 Peripheral (infec- tious)	3	118	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-4.45 [-16.81, 7.91]
2.7.3 Peripheral (trauma)	4	166	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-8.57 [-17.23, 0.08]

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup ti- tle	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
2.7.4 Peripheral (cancer)	1	20	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	2.80 [-21.71, 27.31]
2.7.5 Peripheral (mixed)	3	79	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-16.80 [-28.03, -5.58]
2.7.6 Central	3	98	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-12.91 [-22.14, -3.67]

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 1: By sample size

	Т	Treatment		Control				Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
2.1.1 Fewer than 25 pa	atients								
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	5.4%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]	
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	8.1%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]	
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	3.3%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]	
3aranowski 1999	17.5	31.35	24	10.08	27.24	24	5.7%	7.42 [-9.20 , 24.04]	
3ruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	3.0%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	
Chabal 1992	40.9	29.14	11	67.5	14.22	11	4.5%	-26.60 [-45.76 , -7.44]	
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	24	11	87	15	11	5.6%	-10.00 [-26.73 , 6.73]	
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	13.6%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]	-
assoulaki 2002	16	19	20	19	20	24	9.5%	-3.00 [-14.55 , 8.55]	
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	26.94	15	4.5%	-7.10 [-26.33 , 12.13]	
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	5.5%	-7.40 [-24.28 , 9.48]	
Aarchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	5.1%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]	
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	5.4%	-13.80 [-30.97 , 3.37]	_ _
Vallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	33.66	11	3.3%	-30.30 [-53.32 , -7.28]	
Vallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	6.2%	-8.90 [-24.53 , 6.73]	
Vright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	15	4.3%	-17.40 [-37.02 , 2.22]	
Vu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	25.5	22	7.0%	-13.60 [-28.09 , 0.89]	
ubtotal (95% CI)			266			269	100.0%	-12.44 [-16.92 , -7.97]	
leterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	20.13; Chi ² = 2	20.99, df =	= 16 (P = 0	.18); I ² = 24	%				•
est for overall effect: 2	Z = 5.45 (P <	0.00001)							
.1.2 More than 25 pa	tients								
/ledrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	24.0%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]	
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	41.9%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	-
Stracke 1994	19	25	46	18	19	48	34.1%	1.00 [-8.00 , 10.00]	
ubtotal (95% CI)			104			109	100.0%	-6.72 [-16.21 , 2.76]	
leterogeneity: Tau ² = 4	47.53; Chi ² = 6	5.58, df = 2	2 (P = 0.04)); I ² = 70%					•
est for overall effect:	Z = 1.39 (P =	0.16)							
									-100 -50 0 50
									Favors treatment Favors contr

Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 2: By time of outcome measurement

	Т	reatment			Control			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
2.2.1 Minutes (less tha	n 24 h)								
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	4.1%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]	
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	6.0%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]	
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	2.6%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]	
Baranowski 1999	17.5	31.35	24	10.08	27.24	24	4.3%	7.42 [-9.20 , 24.04]	_ _
Bruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	2.3%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	_
Marchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	3.9%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]	
Medrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	5.5%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]	
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	4.1%	-13.80 [-30.97 , 3.37]	
Wallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	36.66	11	2.3%	-30.30 [-54.87 , -5.73]	
Wu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	36.66	22	3.7%	-13.60 [-31.80 , 4.60]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			172			171	38.8%	-11.58 [-18.34 , -4.82]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 3	85.83; Chi ² = 2	13.01, df =	9 (P = 0.1	6); I ² = 31%	6				•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 3.36 (P =	0.0008)							
2.2.2 More than 24 h									
Chabal 1992	40.9	29.14	11	67.5	14.22	11	3.5%	-26.60 [-45.76 , -7.44]	
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	26	11	87	15	11	3.9%	-10.00 [-27.74, 7.74]	
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	9.6%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]	-
Fassoulaki 2002	16	19	20	19	20	24	7.0%	-3.00 [-14.55 , 8.55]	
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	26.94	15	3.4%	-7.10 [-26.33 , 12.13]	_ _
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	4.2%	-7.40 [-24.28 , 9.48]	
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	12.5%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	-
Stracke 1994	19	25	46	18	19	48	9.0%	1.00 [-8.00 , 10.00]	
Wallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	4.7%	-8.90 [-24.53 , 6.73]	
Wright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	16	3.4%	-17.40 [-36.73 , 1.93]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			198			208	61.2%	-10.50 [-15.71 , -5.30]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	27.09; Chi ² = 2	15.98, df =	9 (P = 0.0); I ² = 44%	6				•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 3.95 (P <	0.0001)							
Total (95% CI)			370			379	100.0%	-10.91 [-14.91 , -6.91]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	25.14; Chi ² = 2	29.02, df =	= 19 (P = 0	.07); I ² = 35	5%			-	•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 5.34 (P <	0.00001)							-100 -50 0 50 10
Test for subgroup diffe	ences: Chi ² =	0.06. df =	1 (P = 0.8)	1). $I^2 = 0\%$					Favors treatment Favors control

Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 3: By time of outcome measurement (minus Stracke trial)

	Treatment			Control				Mean Difference	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI	
2.3.1 Minutes (< 24 h)										
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	4.0%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]		
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	6.4%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]		
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	2.4%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]		
Baranowski 1999	17.5	31.35	24	10.08	27.24	24	4.2%	7.42 [-9.20 , 24.04]		
Bruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	2.1%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	_	
Marchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	3.8%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]		
Medrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	5.8%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]		
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	4.0%	-13.80 [-30.97 , 3.37]		
Wallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	36.66	11	2.1%	-30.30 [-54.87 , -5.73]		
Wu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	36.66	22	3.6%	-13.60 [-31.80 , 4.60]	_ +	
Subtotal (95% CI)			172			171	38.2%	-11.58 [-18.34 , -4.82]		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 3	5.83; Chi ² = 1	13.01, df =	9 (P = 0.1	.6); I ² = 31%	ó				•	
Test for overall effect: Z	z = 3.36 (P =	0.0008)								
2.3.2 > 24 h										
Chabal 1992	40.9	29.14	11	67.5	14.22	11	3.3%	-26.60 [-45.76 , -7.44]		
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	26	11	87	15	11	3.8%	-10.00 [-27.74 , 7.74]	_ _	
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	12.4%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]	-	
Fassoulaki 2002	16	19	21	19	20	24	7.9%	-3.00 [-14.40 , 8.40]		
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	26.94	15	3.3%	-7.10 [-26.33 , 12.13]		
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	4.1%	-7.40 [-24.28 , 9.48]		
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	19.1%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	+	
Wallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	4.7%	-8.90 [-24.53 , 6.73]		
Wright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	16	3.2%	-17.40 [-36.73 , 1.93]	_ 	
Subtotal (95% CI)			153			160	61.8%	-12.85 [-16.71 , -8.99]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 1.	.11; Chi ² = 8.	23, df = 8	(P = 0.41)	; I ² = 3%					•	
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 6.53 (P < 6	0.00001)								
Total (95% CI)			325			331	100.0%	-12.21 [-15.85 , -8.57]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 9	.69; Chi ² = 21	1.41, df =	18 (P = 0.2	26); I ² = 16%	6			-	•	
Test for overall effect: Z	z = 6.58 (P < 6	0.00001)								
Test for subgroup different	ences: Chi ² =	0.10, df =	1 (P = 0.7	5), I ² = 0%					Favors treatment Favors control	

Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 4: By time of outcome measurement (minus 3 trials with wide data spread)

	Treatment			Control				Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
2.4.1 Minutes (< 24 h)									
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	3.6%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]	
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	6.3%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]	
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	2.0%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]	
Bruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	1.8%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	_
Marchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	3.4%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]	
Medrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	5.5%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]	
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	3.6%	-13.80 [-30.97 , 3.37]	
Wallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	36.66	11	1.8%	-30.30 [-54.87 , -5.73]	
Wu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	36.66	22	3.2%	-13.60 [-31.80 , 4.60]	_ _
Subtotal (95% CI)			148			147	31.3%	-13.83 [-19.67 , -7.99]	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0$.00; Chi ² = 7.	.42, df = 8	(P = 0.49)	; I ² = 0%					•
Test for overall effect: Z	Z = 4.64 (P <	0.00001)							
2.4.2 > 24 h									
Chabal 1992	40.9	29.14	11	67.5	14.22	11	2.9%	-26.60 [-45.76 , -7.44]	
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	26	11	87	15	11	3.4%	-10.00 [-27.74 , 7.74]	
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	15.3%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]	-
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	26.94	15	2.9%	-7.10 [-26.33 , 12.13]	
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	3.7%	-7.40 [-24.28 , 9.48]	
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	33.3%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	-
Wallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	4.4%	-8.90 [-24.53 , 6.73]	
Wright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	16	2.9%	-17.40 [-36.73 , 1.93]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			132			136	68.7%	-14.06 [-18.00 , -10.12]	▲
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0$.00; Chi ² = 5.	00, df = 7	(P = 0.66)	; I ² = 0%					•
Test for overall effect: Z	Z = 7.00 (P <	0.00001)							
Total (95% CI)			280			283	100.0%	-13.99 [-17.25 , -10.72]	▲
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0$.00; Chi ² = 12	2.42, df =	16 (P = 0.7)	(1); I ² = 0%				, ,	•
Test for overall effect: Z	z = 8.40 (P <	0.00001)							
Test for subgroup differ	ences: Chi² =	0.00. df =	1 (P = 0.9)	5). $I^2 = 0\%$					Favors treatment Favors control

Analysis 2.5. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 5: By trial design

	Treatment			Control				Mean Difference	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI	
2.5.1 Crossover										
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	5.8%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]		
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	9.2%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]		
Baranowski 1999	17.5	31.35	24	10.08	27.24	24	6.1%	7.42 [-9.20 , 24.04]	_ _	
Bruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	3.1%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]		
Chabal 1992	40.9	29.14	11	67.5	14.22	11	4.8%	-26.60 [-45.76 , -7.44]		
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	24	11	87	15	11	6.1%	-10.00 [-26.73 , 6.73]		
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	17.1%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]		
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	26.94	15	4.8%	-7.10 [-26.33 , 12.13]		
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	6.0%	-7.40 [-24.28 , 9.48]	-+	
Marchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	5.5%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]		
Medrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	8.3%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]		
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	5.8%	-13.80 [-30.97 , 3.37]		
Wallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	36.66	11	3.0%	-30.30 [-54.87 , -5.73]		
Wallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	6.8%	-8.90 [-24.53 , 6.73]		
Wu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	25.5	22	7.7%	-13.60 [-28.09 , 0.89]		
Subtotal (95% CI)			253			253	100.0%	-12.25 [-16.70 , -7.81]	♦	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 1	1.91; Chi ² = 1	16.63, df =	14 (P = 0.	28); I ² = 16	%				•	
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 5.40 (P < 0)	0.00001)								
2.5.2 Parallel										
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	10.0%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]	_ -	
Fassoulaki 2002	16	19	20	19	20	24	21.5%	-3.00 [-14.55 , 8.55]	-	
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	30.6%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	-	
Stracke 1994	19	25	46	18	19	48	25.4%	1.00 [-8.00 , 10.00]		
Wright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	16	12.6%	-17.40 [-36.73 , 1.93]		
Subtotal (95% CI)			117			126	100.0%	-9.34 [-17.88 , -0.81]		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 5	3.55; Chi ² = 1	11.03, df =	4 (P = 0.0	3); I ² = 64%	Ď				•	
Test for overall effect: Z	z = 2.15 (P =	0.03)								
Test for overall effect. Z	. – 2.15 (F – 1	0.03)						F		

Favors treatment Favors control

Analysis 2.6. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 6: By methodological quality

	Treatment			Control				Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
2.6.1 Score: 2-3 points									
Baranowski 1999	17.5	31.35	24	10.08	27.24	24	4.2%	7.42 [-9.20 , 24.04]	_ _ _
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	9.5%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]	
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	26.94	15	3.4%	-7.10 [-26.33 , 12.13]	
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	4.1%	-7.40 [-24.28 , 9.48]	
Marchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	3.8%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]	
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	12.3%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	+
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	4.0%	-13.80 [-30.97 , 3.37]	
Stracke 1994	19	25	46	18	19	48	8.9%	1.00 [-8.00 , 10.00]	_
Wallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	36.66	11	2.2%	-30.30 [-54.87 , -5.73]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			185			190	52.5%	-9.31 [-15.78 , -2.85]	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 4$	7.61; Chi ² = 1	18.55, df =	8 (P = 0.0	2); I ² = 579	6				•
Test for overall effect: Z	2 = 2.82 (P =	0.005)							
2.6.2 Score: 4 points									
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	4.0%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]	
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	2.5%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]	
Bruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	2.2%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	
Chabal 1992	40.9	29.14	11	67.5	14.22	11	3.4%	-26.60 [-45.76 , -7.44]	
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	24	11	87	15	11	4.2%	-10.00 [-26.73 , 6.73]	
Medrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	5.4%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]	
Wallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	4.6%	-8.90 [-24.53 , 6.73]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			106			105	26.4%	-12.56 [-19.47 , -5.64]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 5	.61; Chi ² = 6.	41, df = 6	(P = 0.38)	; I ² = 6%					•
Test for overall effect: Z	2 = 3.56 (P =	0.0004)							
2.6.3 Score: 5 points									
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	5.9%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]	
Fassoulaki 2002	16	19	20	19	20	24	6.8%	-3.00 [-14.55 , 8.55]	
Wright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	15	3.3%	-17.40 [-37.02 , 2.22]	
Wu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	25.5	22	5.1%	-13.60 [-28.09 , 0.89]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			79			83	21.2%	-12.10 [-20.00 , -4.20]	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 1$	3.58; Chi ² = 3	3.78, df =	3 (P = 0.29); I ² = 21%					•
Test for overall effect: Z	z = 3.00 (P = 0)	0.003)							
Total (95% CI)			370			378	100.0%	-10.94 [-14.89 , -6.98]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	4.71; Chi ² = 2	29.06, df =	= 19 (P = 0	07); I ² = 35	%				•
Test for overall effect: Z	z = 5.42 (P < 6	0.00001)							-100 -50 0 50 100
Test for subgroup differ	ences: Chi ² =	0.52, df =	2 (P = 0.7	7), I ² = 0%					Favors treatment Favors control

Analysis 2.7. Comparison 2: Subgroup analyses for comparison 01, Outcome 7: By etiologic category

	Т	reatment			Control			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
2.7.1 Peripheral (meta	ibolic)								
Dejgard 1988	27	11	16	46	13	16	25.4%	-19.00 [-27.34 , -10.66]	-
Kastrup 1987	33.2	26.79	15	40.3	36.94	15	8.8%	-7.10 [-30.19 , 15.99]	
Oskarsson 1997	21.85	11.05	28	34.7	11.1	31	30.0%	-12.85 [-18.51 , -7.19]	
Stracke 1994	19	25	46	18	19	48	24.3%	1.00 [-8.00 , 10.00]	·
Vright 1997	46.5	28.3	15	63.9	26.5	16	11.4%	-17.40 [-36.73 , 1.93]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			120			126	100.0%	-11.06 [-18.97 , -3.15]	
Ieterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 4$	45.90; Chi ² = 1	11.22, df =	4 (P = 0.0)	2); I ² = 64%	6				\bullet
est for overall effect: 2	Z = 2.74 (P =	0.006)							
.7.2 Peripheral (infec	tious)								
Baranowski 1999	17.5	31.35	24	10.08	27.24	24	34.0%	7.42 [-9.20 , 24.04]	
Kemper 1998	37.8	22.7	16	45.2	25.9	16	33.4%	-7.40 [-24.28 . 9.48]	
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	43.6	29.3	19	32.6%	-13.80 [-30.97 . 3.37]	
ubtotal (95% CI)	_0.0		59			59	100.0%	-4.45 [-16.81 . 7 91]	
$\frac{1}{4}$	15.14: Chi ² = 3	3.22. df =	2 (P = 0 20): $I^2 = 38\%$		55	100.070		\mathbf{T}
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.71 (P = 0.71)	0.48)	2 (1 0.20),1 3070					
.7.3 Peripheral (trau	ma)								
assoulaki 2002	. 16	19	20	19	20	24	36.7%	-3.00 [-14.55 , 8.55]	
Aedrik 1999	31	27.39	30	38	27.39	30	28.5%	-7.00 [-20.86 , 6.86]	
Vallace 1996	24.8	19.62	11	55.1	36.66	11	11.1%	-30.30 [-54.875.73]	
Vallace 2000b	28	22.1	20	36.9	28	20	23.8%	-8.90 [-24.53 . 6.73]	
ubtotal (95% CI)	20		== 81	5015	20	85	100.0%	-8.57 [-17.23 , 0.08]	
$\text{Interrogeneity: } Tau^2 = 1$	8 51 · Chi ² = 3	3.92 df = 3	3(P = 0.27)). $I^2 = 2.3\%$		00	10010 /0	0.07 [171=0 ; 0.00]	
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.94 (P =	0.05)	- (,,					
2.7.4 Peripheral (canc	er)								
Bruera 1992	36.9	26	10	34.1	29.8	10	100.0%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			10			10	100.0%	2.80 [-21.71 , 27.31]	
leterogeneity: Not app	licable								
est for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.22 (P = 0.22)	0.82)							
.7.5 Peripheral (mixe	ed)								
Attal 2004	19	22	22	38	22	22	48.5%	-19.00 [-32.00 , -6.00]	·
Backonja 2000	39	23.46	8	67.4	21.73	7	20.5%	-28.40 [-51.28 , -5.52]	
/larchettini 1992	59.3	25	10	65	14	10	31.0%	-5.70 [-23.46 , 12.06]	
ubtotal (95% CI)			40			39	100.0%	-16.80 [-28.03 , -5.58]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	23.71; Chi ² = 2	2.60, df = 1	2 (P = 0.27); I ² = 23%					•
est for overall effect: 2	Z = 2.93 (P =	0.003)	-						
.7.6 Central									
Attal 2000	31	27	16	46	22.36	16	28.9%	-15.00 [-32.18 , 2.18]	·
Chiou-Tan 1996	77	24	11	87	15	11	30.5%	-10.00 [-26.73 , 6.73]	_ _ ∎∔
Vu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	50.1	25.5	22	40.6%	-13.60 [-28.09 , 0.89]	
ubtotal (95% CI)			49			49	100.0%	-12.91 [-22.14 , -3.67]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0).00; Chi ² = 0.	18, df = 2	(P = 0.91)	; I ² = 0%					•
rest for overall effect: 2	Z = 2.74 (P =	0.006)	,						
		-							
									Favors treatment Favors cor

Comparison 3. Efficacy of intravenous lidocaine or its oral analogs vs. other analgesics

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
3.1 Mean pain scores post interven- tion/control	5	206	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.60 [-6.96, 5.75]



Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3: Efficacy of intravenous lidocaine or its oral analogs vs. other analgesics, Outcome 1: Mean pain scores post intervention/control

Treatment					Control			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
Fassoulaki 2002	16	19	20	15	19	22	30.5%	1.00 [-10.51 , 12.51]	-
Lindstrom 1987	37.27	23.95	11	34.54	23.31	11	10.4%	2.73 [-17.02 , 22.48]	
Medrik 1999	31	27.39	30	40	27.39	30	21.0%	-9.00 [-22.86 , 4.86]	
Rowbotham 1991	29.8	24.5	19	32.6	33.2	19	11.7%	-2.80 [-21.35 , 15.75]	
Wu 2002	36.5	23.5	22	32.6	18	22	26.4%	3.90 [-8.47 , 16.27]	+
Total (95% CI)			102			104	100.0%	-0.60 [-6.96 , 5.75]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.	Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00; Chi ² = 2.16, df = 4 (P = 0.71); I ² = 0%								
Test for overall effect: Z							-100 -50 0 50 100		
Test for subgroup differences: Not applicable									Favors treatment Favors control

Comparison 4. Adverse effects: Lidocaine or oral analogs vs. placebo

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
4.1 Patients with adverse effects	19	813	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% Cl)	4.60 [3.04, 6.97]

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4: Adverse effects: Lidocaine or oral analogs vs. placebo, Outcome 1: Patients with adverse effects

	Treat	nent	Place	ebo		Odds Ratio		Odds	Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI		M-H, Rand	om, 95% CI	
Attal 2000	11	16	5	16	7.7%	4.84 [1.09 , 21.58]				
Attal 2004	16	22	5	22	9.2%	9.07 [2.31 , 35.65]			_ _ _	
Backonja 2000	21	23	6	7	2.6%	1.75 [0.13 , 22.78]			.	
Baranowski 1999	2	24	0	24	1.8%	5.44 [0.25 , 119.63]				
Chabal 1992	2	11	0	11	1.7%	6.05 [0.26 , 142.04]			• • • • •	
Dejgard 1988	3	16	0	16	1.9%	8.56 [0.41 , 180.52]		_		
Ellemann 1989	1	10	0	10	1.6%	3.32 [0.12 , 91.60]				
Fassoulaki 2002	1	20	1	24	2.1%	1.21 [0.07 , 20.67]				
Kemper 1998	9	16	5	16	8.2%	2.83 [0.67 , 12.02]		-		
Kieburtz 1998	22	48	6	50	16.4%	6.21 [2.23 , 17.29]				
Kvarnstrom 2004	5	10	0	10	1.8%	21.00 [0.97 , 453.91]				
Marchettini 1992	4	10	0	10	1.8%	14.54 [0.67 , 316.69]		-		_
Oskarsson 1997	15	95	2	31	7.3%	2.72 [0.59 , 12.62]		-		
Rowbotham 1991	1	19	0	19	1.6%	3.16 [0.12 , 82.64]				
Stracke 1994	11	46	6	48	14.5%	2.20 [0.74, 6.55]				
Sörensen 1995	3	11	0	11	1.8%	9.47 [0.43 , 208.75]			.	
Wallace 1996	7	11	1	11	3.0%	17.50 [1.60 , 191.89]				
Wallace 2000b	12	20	4	20	8.6%	6.00 [1.46 , 24.69]				
Wright 1997	7	14	3	15	6.4%	4.00 [0.77 , 20.67]				
Total (95% CI)		442		371	100.0%	4.60 [3.04 , 6.97]			•	
Total events:	153		44						•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0	0.00; Chi ² = 8	.66, df = 1	8 (P = 0.97); I ² = 0%			0.001	0.1	1 10	1000
Test for overall effect:	Z = 7.21 (P <	0.00001)						Control	Treatment	
Test for subgroup diffe	rences. Not a	nnlicable								

Test for subgroup differences: Not applicable

Comparison 5. Adverse effects: Lidocaine or oral analogs vs. other analgesics

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
5.1 Patients with adverse effects	5	205	Odds Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.78 [0.15, 3.96]



Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5: Adverse effects: Lidocaine or oral analogs vs. other analgesics, Outcome 1: Patients with adverse effects

Treatment		Control			Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Rando	m, 95% CI
Fassoulaki 2002	1	20	0	22	14.3%	3.46 [0.13 , 89.95]		
Kieburtz 1998	22	44	15	39	30.6%	1.60 [0.67 , 3.84]	+-	
Kvarnstrom 2004	5	10	9	10	19.3%	0.11 [0.01 , 1.24]	← ■ → ↓	
Lindstrom 1987	3	11	0	11	15.2%	9.47 [0.43 , 208.75]		
Rowbotham 1991	1	19	7	19	20.6%	0.10 [0.01 , 0.88]		
Total (95% CI)		104		101	100.0%	0.78 [0.15 , 3.96]		
Total events:	32		31					-
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2.05; Chi ² = 11.28, df = 4 (P = 0.02); I ² = 65%							0.01 0.1 1	10 100
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.30$ (P = 0.76)							Favours treatment	Favours control

Test for subgroup differences: Not applicable

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search strategy

#1. Randomized clinical trial #2. Controlled clinical trial #3. Random allocation #4. Double blind method #5. Single blind method #6. Clin* trial* #7. Placebo #8. Random* #9. Research design #10. Comparative study #11. Prospective stud* #12. Cross-over #13. Crossover #14. Factorial #15. Systematic review #16. Metaanalysis #17. Meta-analysis #18. Metaan* #19. #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 #20. Lidocaine #21. Lignocaine #22. Mexiletine #23. Flecainide #24. Tocainide #25. Oral analog* #26. Local an*sthetic* #27. #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 #28. #19 and #27 #29. Pain #30. Neuro* pain #31. #29 or #30 #32. #28 and #31

WHAT'S NEW



Date	Event	Description

29 September 2020

Review declared as stable

See Published notes.

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 2001 Review first published: Issue 4, 2005

Date	Event	Description
4 October 2019	Review declared as stable	See Published notes.
11 January 2019	Amended	Contact details updated.
24 July 2017	Review declared as stable	See Published notes.
12 December 2012	Amended	Contact details amended.
25 April 2012	Review declared as stable	25 April 2012
		No longer updated
		Technique no longer used in most countries, so not seen as nec- essary to update. Review made stable until 2017 when we will re- view again the need for this title to be brought up to date. Con- tact the review group if you have any queries regarding this title meanwhile.
7 November 2008	Amended	Further RevMan 5 conversion changes
22 April 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Ivo W. Tremont-Lukats proposed this systematic review at a training workshop in systematic reviews hosted by the PaPaS Cochrane Review Group in Boston, Massachusetts, in June 2000. The protocol and search strategy were done later.

Vidya Challapalli and Ivo Tremont ran an updated search, screened studies, extracted, tabulated, and analyzed the data. Data extraction and analysis were discussed and overseen weekly, and serial drafts of the review were edited by Daniel Carr. Joseph Lau reviewed and edited all statistical analyses.

Ewan McNicol performed a significant portion of the editing and final rewriting, contributed to the data extraction, and coordinated the assembly of various portions of text and data into the appropriate format. All reviewers contributed to the drafts, edition, and final published version.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Financial Support: The Richard Saltonsall Charitable Foundation and the Evenor Armington Fund, USA

External sources

• No sources of support supplied



ΝΟΤΕS

2017

A restricted search in June 2017 did not identify any potentially relevant studies likely to change the conclusions. Therefore, this review has now been stabilised following discussion with the authors and editors. If appropriate, we will update the review if new evidence likely to change the conclusions is published, or if standards change substantially which necessitate major revisions.

2019

We performed another restricted search in September 2019 but did not identify any potentially relevant studies likely to change the conclusions. Therefore, this review has now been stabilised following discussion with the authors and editors, and we will reassess the review for updating in 2020. If appropriate, we will update the review sooner if new evidence likely to change the conclusions is published, or if standards change substantially which necessitate major revisions.

2020

We performed another restricted search in September 2020 but again did not identify any potentially relevant studies likely to change the conclusions. This area of research is not active and therefore this review has now been stabilised following discussion with the authors and editors; we will reassess the review for updating in 2025. If appropriate, we will update the review sooner if new evidence likely to change the conclusions is published, or if standards change substantially which necessitate major revisions.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Administration, Oral; Anesthetics, Intravenous [administration & dosage]; Anesthetics, Local [*administration & dosage]; Flecainide [administration & dosage]; Lidocaine [*administration & dosage] [analogs & derivatives]; Mexiletine [administration & dosage]; Nervous System Diseases [*complications]; Pain [*drug therapy] [etiology]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Tocainide [administration & dosage]

MeSH check words

Humans